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CANADA’S INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

RESEARCH CENTRE (IDRC) IS ONE OF THE

WORLD’S LEADING INSTITUTIONS IN THE

GENERATION AND APPLICATION OF NEW

KNOWLEDGE TO MEET THE CHALLENGES

OF INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT.

FOR NEARLY 40 YEARS, IDRC HAS WORKED IN

CLOSE COLLABORATION WITH RESEARCHERS

FROM THE DEVELOPING WORLD TO BUILD

HEALTHIER, MORE EQUITABLE, AND MORE

PROSPEROUS SOCIETIES.



This past year was one of change and
renewal for the International Development
Research Centre. A transition in leadership
is always a significant event: in June 2008,
Maureen O’Neil’s retirement was met with
regret, but also with pride in her many
achievements over 11 years of outstanding
leadership. IDRC’s Governors and staff are
grateful for the acclaim she brought to the
organization, and wished her well as she

moved into new responsibilities heading the Canadian
Health Services Research Foundation.

IDRC is fortunate that in July 2008 it welcomed David
Malone as its new President. David brings to the position
an outstanding reputation as a scholar and senior diplo-
mat. His fresh perspective, formidable intellect, and high
energy will guide the organization in developing and
executing its next five-year strategic plan.

IDRC’s current plan expires at the end of March 2010. It
is imperative that the organization deliver on its existing
commitments. Its success in maintaining high quality
innovative research programs within disciplined financial
and management structures is evident throughout this
report. It is equally imperative that IDRC design its future
strategy in a way that is both practical and farsighted. The
Board of Governors takes very seriously its role in setting
the direction of the organization, working collaboratively
with management to set the parameters for the period
2010–2015. At no time has this been more important than
in the current uncertain financial climate. We are not in a
position to engage in economic forecasting, but we must
plan for the future boldly, building on IDRC’s excellent
record of success, preparing for both good times and bad.
The IDRC Board is doing so through a series of three
intensive meetings with senior management over six
months, challenging assumptions and encouraging both
innovation and discipline.

On another level, to broaden their knowledge of the orga-
nization’s work, Governors are encouraged to take part in
at least one field trip to IDRC projects during their tenure.
In January 2009, several Governors and senior staff par-
ticipated in a stimulating visit to India and Sri Lanka.
Governors were introduced to IDRC-supported research
partners and projects, prominent development thinkers,
and Canadian officials working in the region. The visit

also allowed Governors to promote IDRC and to highlight
its special role among Canada’s international agencies.

That role is to facilitate the creation of knowledge that will
benefit humanity in the developing world. In this endeav-
our IDRC works closely with other Canadian government
bodies, in partnerships both formal and informal. For
example, the Global Health Research Initiative is an
alliance of IDRC, Health Canada, the Canadian Institutes
of Health Research, the Canadian International Develop-
ment Agency, and the Public Health Agency of Canada.
It aims to boost Canada’s contribution to global health
research. We believe that such a whole-of-government
approach to fostering international development is likely
to prove effective, and we look forward to continued
collaboration with our Canadian partners.

The exceptional reputation IDRC enjoys within govern-
ment circles and in the wider world is one reason why it
is a welcome partner in many activities. This reputation
enables it to attract excellent talent to IDRC’s Board,
comprised of both Canadian and international experts
in relevant fields. Governors are without exception well-
informed and vigorously involved in Board activities.

During 2008–2009 we welcomed to the Board as a new
Governor, Frieda Granot, Senior Associate Dean, Strategic
Development and External Relations, Advisory Council
Chair in Management Science, and Professor of Opera-
tions and Logistics at the Sauder School of Business,
University of British Columbia. Leaving the Board at the
end of their terms were Lalla Ben Barka and Linda Sheppard
Whalen. Regretfully, Vice-Chairman Mary Coyle and
Governors Angela Cropper and Robert Greenhill resigned
from the IDRC Board for personal or career reasons. IDRC
is deeply grateful for their wisdom and service. In October
the Board elected with enthusiasm Denis Desautels as its
new Vice-Chairman. The dedication shown by the mem-
bers of the IDRC Board is a source of great strength for the
Centre. I would like to thank all Governors for their con-
siderable contributions over the last year, and look forward
to working together over the coming months. �

The Honourable Barbara McDougall
Chairman

Message from the Chairman



IDRC is a very exciting place. I should know: in mid–2008,
I prematurely left New Delhi, where I had been Canada’s
High Commissioner, to take up the presidency of IDRC.
Although I loved my years in India unreservedly, I have
not regretted my decision. For one thing, IDRC itself is
deeply engaged with India, as it is with so many other
developing countries.

The field of development is complex and riveting. Several
emerging countries — notably Brazil, China, and India —
entered the current economic downturn much stronger
than would have been the case a decade ago. So did Africa
as a whole: its economies had been recently growing by 6%
annually. The belief that the development process has been
a failure is profoundly misguided, although the role of
development assistance in producing success has varied.

Key to advances has been sound policy, based on evidence
provided by local research teams. Policy-relevant research
has contributed significantly to higher economic growth
in much of the developing world and to more equitable
social policy in many countries. Regional networks are
central to this dynamic. They enable experts to learn from
each other’s research and experience in shaping advice to
their own publics and governments.

Several shifts in recent years have strengthened IDRC’s con-
nection with others that share this conviction. Our largest
Canadian partnership historically, and still today, is with the
Canadian International Development Agency and plays to
our respective fields of comparative advantage. A sizeable
partnership with the UK’s Department for International
Development is strengthening African expertise on adapting
to climate change. This partnership draws on IDRC’s exten-
sive network of researchers on the continent, as well as on
our staff presence in Cairo, Dakar, and Nairobi.

An exciting new partnership with The William and Flora
Hewlett Foundation and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
aims to strengthen the core capacity of promising research
organizations in Africa, Latin America, and South Asia. This
Think Tank Initiative sees the capacity to develop their own
policies — on the basis of local and regional research advice
— as one meaningful cornerstone for developing countries.
Indeed, developing countries are increasingly looking to
each other for successful models of economic and social
policy rather than to the industrialized world.

IDRC is an expression of Canada on the world stage.
Although our Parliamentary appropriation amounts to
just under 4% of Canada’s international assistance budget,
we and our grantees work hard to earn it. We are very
grateful to the Canadian public, Parliament, and the
government for the confidence they vest in us.

The economic rise of much of the developing world is
good for Canada. Better conditions throughout the world
encourage political stability and allow us to combat dis-
ease at its source and to ensure greater food security. The
economic downturn has slowed or interrupted economic
progress in some countries, but the prospects for the
medium and long-term future are quite positive, indeed
much more so than is widely believed.

Drawing on the major Canadian granting agencies as
funding partners, we have been increasing our support for
research chairs, scholarships, and other arrangements that
link Canadian scholars and policy experts to those of the
developing world. These links also represent an expres-
sion of Canada on the world stage and speak to our
curiosity, our entrepreneurship, and the belief that there
is much to be learned from other societies the world over.

In coming years, the hard-working, innovative IDRC team
undertakes to advance these prospects wherever we can
through carefully considered support for policy-relevant
research in and affecting the developing world. �

David M. Malone
President and Chief Executive Officer

Message from the President

IDRC President David Malone speaks with journalists during
a visit to an IDRC-supported project near Dakar, Senegal.
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Research in action
local solutions, lasting impacts

I N T R O D U C T I O N

The International Development Research Centre
(IDRC) supports the creation and application

of knowledge that brings dramatic improvements
to the lives of people throughout the developing
regions of the world. Improvements such as markets
for products, higher crop yields, cleaner environ-
ments, better health, access to new technologies,
fairer laws, and equal opportunities.

Our mission today is simple and unchanged since our
creation in 1970: to promote research in developing countries,
research by the people of those countries, for the purpose
of applying knowledge (in the words of the IDRC Act) “to
the economic and social advancement of those regions.”
Applied research. Local solutions. Lasting impacts.

IDRC provides both novice and accomplished scholars
throughout the developing world with the funds, support,
and connections to find solutions to pressing problems
that prevent their communities from realizing their full
potential. We enable the world’s brightest minds to
collaborate on cutting-edge projects, bringing together
top researchers to work as equals on issues of global
importance. Here are some of our research partners who
were recognized by others this year:

In February 2009, the World Economic Forum recog-
nized Sanjeev Khagram as a 2009 Young Global Leader.

Yuyun Ismawati was awarded a Goldman Environmental
Prize in recognition of her groundbreaking work to create
an environmentally sound, community-based solid waste
management program in Indonesia.

IDRC PRoMoTes ReseARCH IN DeveloPING CouNTRIes,
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M e e T I N G o u R o B J e C T I v e s 7

Syeda Rizwana Hazan, Bangladesh’s leading environmental
attorney, was awarded a Goldman Environmental Prize
in recognition of her efforts to reduce the adverse impact
of Bangladesh’s ship breaking industry.

Martti Ahtisaari, former president of Finland, was
awarded the 2008 Nobel Peace Prize in October. He has
been credited for his role in resolving conflicts in
Namibia, Indonesia, Kosovo, and Iraq, among other areas.

Clotilde Fonseca, Executive Director of the Omar Dengo
Foundation (Costa Rica), was recognized as a Leader
Making a Difference for her contributions to education
technology. Fonseca received the award at the LINK-live
US Presidential Inaugural Gala 2009.

Food campaigner and educator Geoff Tansey received the
Derek Cooper Award at the BBC Food and Farming
Awards in November 2008.

Our fundamental belief is that our best and most productive
contribution to ensuring a brighter future for developing
countries is to foster the creativity and drive of their
citizens and leaders to learn, innovate, and improve their
own futures.

The following pages present some of our progress toward
meeting our three corporate objectives, through the
stories of a few of the researchers we support around the
world. All attest that IDRC — at once proudly Canadian
and international — is committed to making knowledge
a tool for development, for improving people’s lives. �

ReseARCH By THe PeoPle oF THose CouNTRIes,

eCoNoMIC AND soCIAl ADvANCeMeNT oF THose ReGIoNs.



IDRC in the world
What we do, where, how much we spend

S U M M A R Y O F O P E R A T I O N S

Strong, responsible management, accountable gover-
nance, path-breaking research that improves the lives

of poor people in developing countries — this summar-
izes IDRC’s achievements in 2008–2009.

IDRC’s main activity is to fund applied research. At the
end of 2008–2009, we were supporting 1077 such
research activities.

IDRC’s support focuses on four program areas:
� environment and natural resource management
� information and communication technologies

for development
� innovation, policy and science
� social and economic policy, including health

Approximately 83% of IDRC’s 2008–2009 revenues came
from Parliament. is year, the Centre’s Parliamentary
revenues were $168.8 million. is represents 3.9% of
Canada’s international assistance.

As a result of IDRC’s international reputation for results
and good management, the Centre attracts partnerships
with leading organizations such as the Bill & Melinda
Gates Foundation, e William and Flora Hewlett Foun-
dation, the UK Department for International Development,
and the Canadian International Development Agency,
among others. As of March 31, 2009, IDRC was involved
in 60 multi-year donor agreements worth $294.6 million.

IDRC’s six regional offices throughout the developing
world ensure the relevance of our activities and provide
direct contact with researchers and policymakers
throughout Africa, Asia, Latin America and the
Caribbean, and the Middle East. Because problems are
increasingly global, many of our activities are multi-
regional in scope.

STATISTICAL
SNAPSHOT
2008–2009

Research projectsResearch
activities*

6
Regional offices

180
research projects
approved in
2008–2009

390
total research
activities
approved during
2008–2009

489
Staff
(full-time
equivalents)

124
research projects
completed

344
total
research activities
completed

* Includes research projects; research support activities such as funding
for workshops, conferences, and dissemination activities related to
projects; awards program; and other activities.

646
total active
research projects

1 077
total research
activities active
at year end * Corporate activities include those of the special Initiatives Division, Partnership

and Business Development Division, Corporate strategy and Regional Management
Branch (created in october 2008), the President's office, Regional Activity Funds,
and forward planning.

Program distribution of total allocations (grants)

Environment and
Natural Resource
Management

Information
and Communication
Technologies
for Development

Innovation,
Policy and
Science

Social and
Economic Policy

Corporate*

16%

23.3%

21.6%

14.3%

24.8%

8 I D R C A N N u A l R e P o R T 2 0 0 8 – 2 0 0 9



SINGAPORE

DAKAR

NEW DELHICAIRO

MONTEVIDEO

NAIROBI

MULTIREGIONAL AND GLOBAL ACTIVITIES

IDRC program
grants ($000)

49 409
(38.0% of total
grants )

Donor
grants ($000)

27 758
(45.7%)

Total active
research activities

319

Sub-Saharan Africa

IDRC program
grants ($000)

23 777
(18.3% of total
grants )

Donor
grants ($000)

26 614
(43.9%)

Total active
research activities

287

Latin America and the Caribbean

IDRC program
grants ($000)

30 631
(23.6% of total
grants )

Donor
grants ($000)

2 458
(4.1%)

Total active
research activities

171

Middle East and North Africa

IDRC program
grants ($000)

8 652
(6.7% of total
grants)

Donor
grants ($000)

2 415
(4.0%)

Total active
research activities

95

Asia

IDRC program
grants ($000)

17 408
(13.4% of total
grants )

Donor
grants ($000)

1 376
(2.3%)

Total active
research activities

205

s u M M A R y o F o P e R AT I o N s 9



2008–2009 2007–2008

Actual Revised budget Actual

Revenues
Parliamentary appropriations 168 828 163 190 149 742
Donor partnerships

Funding for development research programs 29 675 31 469 26 091
Recovery of administrative costs 2 969 3 122 2 729

Investment and other income 2 292 2 457 3 531

203 764 200 238 182 093
Expenses

Development research programs 139 048 138 493 126 258
Development research support 38 084 38 641 35 811
Administrative services 28 297 29 324 27 801

205 429 206 458 189 870

Net results (1 665) (6 220) (7 777)

Equity
Retained earnings 13 345 8 906 15 010
Accumulated other comprehensive income 118 — 8

Expenditure benchmarks 68/18/14 67/19/14 66/19/15

Program allocations
Funded by Parliamentary appropriations 129 877a 126 488a 146 676a

Funded by donor partnerships 60 621 40 088 37 041

190 498 166 576 183 717

Notes:
a Program allocations (grants) include total allocations for program areas and corporate activities as well as the allocations for the Institute

for Connectivity in the Americas.

� The Parliamentary appropriations represent 82.9% of total revenues.
� The expenses for development research programs and development research support represent 86.2% of total expenses.

For further information on these key financial highlights, please refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis on page 55.

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31 March 2009 (In thousands of dollars)

10 I D R C A N N u A l R e P o R T 2 0 0 8 – 2 0 0 9
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Meeting our objectives
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Strengthening our research partners’ ability to do
research and manage research institutions is a funda-

mental goal of almost all of the activities IDRC supports.
To meet that goal, we adopt a team approach, involving
program, communications, evaluation, and finance staff to
help organizations and researchers expand their knowl-
edge, strengthen their research capacity, share their find-
ings, and contribute to change. This year, for example, a
communications toolkit was launched on our website to
help our research partners and staff more effectively com-
municate the results of development research.

Providing advice and training on how to mobilize
resources is another one of the ways in which IDRC helps
developing-country organizations pursue their goals and
become more sustainable. For Chaitanya, a pioneering
organization in India’s self-help group movement, that
advice helped them secure the funds to build a new train-
ing centre to help thousands of rural women in the state
of Maharashtra use microcredit and other self-reliance
strategies to address their own economic and social needs.

Tools for change

Chaitanya Deputy Director Kalpana Pant recalls that a
workshop organized by IDRC “helped in breaking a
mindset — that funds can only come from funding agencies,”
and inspired the group to approach its large community
of well-wishers for the first time. “People gave money
because they believed that Chaitanya was making a
difference,” Pant says.

With money from the International Fund for Agricultural
Development and its own supporters, Chaitanya set up
the new training centre and developed a business plan
based on self-reliance and diversified funding sources.
Staff then began addressing other institutional challenges
common to the non-profit sector. Among these challenges
are finding ways to increase their accountability and
transparency, to better plan and evaluate their programs,
and to mobilize financial and other resources. “Chaitanya
was introduced to these concepts by IDRC,” Pant says.

Chaitanya is now highly regarded for its institution-
building expertise by non-governmental organizations
in India and beyond. The group has launched Manthan,
an IDRC-supported initiative aimed at building the
capacities of other organizations across the state. In early
2009, it was busy planning a regional workshop on “fund-
raising fundamentals” — critical skills in a difficult
economic environment.

Delivering solutions

For IDRC, linking people and ideas around the globe is
one of the best ways to deliver solutions. Building net-
works is also an efficient way to share knowledge across a
wide range of groups or regions, and increase the impact
of research. From networks involving dozens of institutes
to links forged among individual researchers around a
common theme or purpose, bringing people and institutions
together is central to our work.

B U I L D I N G A S O L I D F O U N D AT I O N F O R I N N O VAT I O N

skilled researchers, robust institutions

INCREASING
CAPABILITIES
2008–2009:

48
new research
projects with explicit
capacity-building
objectives

238
projects with explicit
capacity-building
objectives active at
year-end

57
new research
activities with explicit
capacity-building
objectives

266
research activities
with explicit
capacity-building
objectives active at
year-end

328
recipient institutions
involved

o B J e C T I v e : IDRC will strengthen and mobilize the local research capacity of developing countries.

1
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Collaboration in a globalized world is no longer just a good
idea — it is essential. University of Western Ontario profes-
sor Terry Sicular, a mentor in an IDRC-supported poverty
research network in China (see page 30), notes that today,
economics “is less and less a field where people are out
there on their own, working independently in an isolated
fashion. Nobody knows everything they need to know on
a subject, so the good work these days is collaborative.”

External evaluators confirm the value of IDRC’s support
for institutions and networks. A review conducted in 2008
of our Rural Poverty and Environment program, for
example, found that it “has made significant and positive
contributions to establishing, changing, and strengthening
many institutions.” The evaluators cite the African Network
for Soil Biology and Fertility, and the Community-based
Natural Resource Management Learning Institute in
Cambodia as just two examples where IDRC-supported
networks “have improved the focus and quality of research”
and helped communicate research results to policymakers.

On the following pages, researchers talk about the ways
IDRC funding has helped improve their skills and
strengthen the institutions and communities in which
they work.

IDRC promotes the search for practical solutions to pressing

problems, as defined by developing countries themselves.

Building research capabilities and forging research networks

are central to the work of supporting researchers and inno-

vators as they tackle challenges in key areas such as health,

food security, and inclusive economic growth.

For IDRC, linking people and ideas around the globe
is one of the best ways to deliver solutions.
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Each year, tens of thou-

sands of mostly rural

migrants flood into Jakarta

in search of work and a

better life. Most end up in

slums like Penjaringan, one

of Jakarta’s largest, where

inadequate waste collection, lack of

affordable and safe water, and clogged

sewage and drainage gutters take a

severe toll on the residents’ health.

Coordinated by Mercy Corps

Indonesia and funded by IDRC and

other donors, researchers are now help-

ing residents in three Penjaringan

neighbourhoods work together with

local governments and other interested

parties — such as the private water

utility — to find lasting solutions to

these problems.The strategy: combine

income-earning opportunities with the

provision of environmental services —

in essence, turn problems into solutions.

Through the “Healthy Places,

Prosperous People” project, Mercy

Corps connects with other local and

international partners: the Urban and

Regional Development Institute, the

USAID-funded Environmental Services

Program, and SwissContact, a non-profit

private foundation. Community devel-

opment and appropriate technology

specialist Haryanti Koostanto leads

the project.

H A R y A N T I K o o s T A N T o

I’m a person who likes to be involved
with people. The Healthy Places, Pros-
perous People project is about engage-
ment with people — poor people —
to improve their living conditions and
their lives. We are doing this through
three innovative pilot projects —
household and communal composting,
water provision, and gutter cleaning.

The first pilot project, solid waste
management, is based on communal
composting. Some 1200 households are
collecting and processing household
organic and plastic waste, and then
making a profit from selling compost,
ornamental plants, and recycled plastic
handicrafts. We anticipate annual rev-
enues of IDR 16.5 million (CA$1840)
from the sale of these products. This
reduces waste collection by municipal
services and there is less burning, bury-
ing, and throwing of waste in canals,
which will reduce health risks.

The second pilot project, to pro-
vide a community-based water sup-
ply, connects 60 households that used
to rely on expensive vendors to a cen-
tral community-run system fed by
clean water supplied by a private com-
pany. The system can provide 400
litres of tap water per household per
day and is expected to cut household
water costs in half.

Finally, a gutter cleaning pilot
project involves more than 2400
households to clear solid waste,
sludge, and other debris from open-
air sewage and drainage gutters.
Regular cleaning restores effective
drainage of flood and wastewater,
reducing health risks. The project
team is using some of the organic
waste to make construction bricks,
liquid fertilizer, and planting
medium. Selling these products is
expected to generate revenues of IDR
135 million (CA$15 000) annually.

IDRC grant: Project duration:
$1 200 000 2006–2009

Reducing pollution in Jakarta slums
Communities and governments join forces to solve problems

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : H A R y A N T I K o o s T A N T o

OBJECTIVE 1:
Building a solid
foundation
for innovation
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A learning experience
In all three neighbourhoods, the com-
munities — more than 20 000 people
— have learned to carry out the
activities. The research approach that
IDRC supports allows us to take into
account each area’s unique character
so we can be sure the projects address
the needs of residents. This allows us
to work more closely with communi-
ties. This way, they are learning how
to sustainably manage their own
waste, water, and sanitation needs.

The project has also been very
useful for the research team, espe-
cially in providing opportunities
through national and international
forums to learn from other countries

and also from within Indonesia.
We have a lot of exchanges that help
to build our capacity to conduct
research and implement the project.
I feel that I have gained skills in how
to implement urban services, as well
as improved my understanding of
research methods.

Increasing the reach
The project has also helped us develop
a good working relationship with the
central government. We are trying to
influence policy in terms of local
governments’ budget allocation across
Jakarta for solid waste management,
water supply, and sanitation. We have
been consulting with them to show
the pilot project results.

Our ultimate goal is to change
behaviour in the Penjaringan com-
munity, in local governments, and in
the Indonesian research community.
For example, with the collaboration
of the North Jakarta government, we
organize regular city consultations
in which representatives from various
agencies and levels of government,
the private sector, and key leaders in
the participating communities came
together to discuss ways to integrate,
scale up, and replicate the pilot
projects. �

The IDRC-supported “Healthy Places,

Prosperous People” project, led by

Mercy Corps Indonesia, is improving

water, sanitation, and solid waste

services through economic incentives

in a poor district of Jakarta.

“I feel that I have gained skills in how to
implement urban services, as well as improved
my understanding of research methods.”
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Mobile phones are

bringing the bene-

fits of information and

communication technolo-

gies (ICTs) to the poor in

many developing coun-

tries. IDRC-supported

research led by Colombo, Sri Lanka-

based LIRNEasia (Learning Initiatives

on Reforms for Network Economies) is

exploring, among other topics, how

mobile phones and related technologies

can improve the lives of the poor.

A key player in this research is LIRNE-

asia co-founder and lead economist

Harsha de Silva. IDRC has supported

LIRNEasia since its founding in 2004.

H A R s H A D e s I l v A

The work we are doing is really
cutting-edge. Through this research
we are talking about creating choices
for farmers, giving them power using
mobile phones as a tool. We just
completed an extensive and compre-
hensive study of how 10 000 poor
people use ICTs in Pakistan, India,
Sri Lanka, Bangladesh, Thailand, and
the Philippines.

I work with a network of respected
academics and researchers in these
countries, and we have built an amaz-
ing body of knowledge.

Our approach has now been repli-
cated by LIRNE’s other partners in
Africa and Latin America, who are also
supported by IDRC. We’ve been able
to cross-fertilize and share knowledge.

Putting research into practice
In June, the largest mobile operator in
Sri Lanka will start to implement what
our research has found in terms of
using mobile phones to give farmers
information (through SMS, Internet,
or call centres) about prices for their
produce at markets. The operator is
able to open up a new market for
additional services, and the farmers
get better prices. It is a sustainable
intervention in the farmer’s decision-
making process, and it’s funded by
the operator.

This is unprecedented. It is IDRC-
funded research that is getting other
people interested.

I think that respecting the intellec-
tual effort of researchers in developing

countries is what makes IDRC such
a helpful organization. IDRC under-
stands that for development research
to be effective, it has to come from
developing-country researchers who
have direct contact with the grassroots.

IDRC’s support has helped so
many researchers in the LIRNEasia
network build their skills and become
better-recognized researchers. This
makes it easier for them to attract
funding from other sources to launch
and sustain careers in their home
countries. �

“IDRC’s support has helped so many researchers
in our network build their skills and become better-
recognized researchers.”

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : H A R s H A D e s I l v A

IDRC grant: Project duration:
$2 563 300 2008–2010

Providing choice for poor farmers
Mobile phones connect producers to markets

OBJECTIVE 1:
Building a solid
foundation
for innovation

IDRC-supported researchers are explor-

ing how farmers can use tools such as

mobile phones to access information

that will help improve their livelihoods.
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science journalists play a

critical role in informing

society about the impor-

tance of scientific develop-

ments. In doing so, they

help ensure that communi-

ties and their leaders make

decisions and implement programs

based on the best data and evidence.

In many developing countries, how-

ever, aspiring science journalists face a

paucity of training and resources. To

enhance the skills of these journalists and

advance the understanding of science

and technology reporting, the World

Federation of Journalists launched a pro-

gram in 2006 that matched 16 seasoned

science journalists from Africa, America,

europe, and the Middle east with 60 of

their less-experienced peers from 35

African and Middle eastern countries for

intensive, long-term mentoring. IDRC

supported the program, in collaboration

with the uK Department for Interna-

tional Development and the swedish

International Development Agency.

one of the mentees was sudanese

health and environment journalist Musa

Fadl Alla elkheir. A physician, Musa

elkheir now hosts a twice-weekly radio

show. He also edits and contributes to

the weekly science section of the

Khartoum Daily. During the two-year

program, elkheir was selected to mentor

other Middle east journalists.

M u s A e l K H e I R

When I was at university, we took
different courses each semester in
which we went out to do work at

the grassroots level. I found that the
people were so interested in learning
about science. This made me think
about changing from just being a doctor
to also being a medium for conveying
information about science to the public.

IDRC support made it possible for
me to attend the Fourth World Confer-
ence of Science Journalists in Montréal
in 2004. If I hadn’t gone to that confer-
ence, I wouldn’t be a science journalist.
At the time, I and other doctors and
journalists made an online network to
exchange ideas, opinions, information.
One of these colleagues told me about
the mentoring program and I ended
up being selected. My mentor was
based in Jordan.

In my country, I’ve become very
well known in science journalism.

People call me to come make presen-
tations, to lecture at universities,
to write for newspapers. And I’ve
become part of an international
network of science journalists. I
learned a lot from this experience.

Now I have three mentees, two
from Jordan and one from Iraq.
They send me their work and I give
them feedback online. Sometimes I
phone them to talk about the articles.
Although the program has officially
finished, we’re still connecting. �

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : M u s A F A D l A l l A e l K H e I R

IDRC grant: Project duration:
$800 000 2006–2009

strengthening s&T journalism
seasoned science writers mentor a new generation

OBJECTIVE 1:
Building a solid
foundation
for innovation

“Without IDRC support I wouldn’t be a science
journalist. Without training I wouldn’t be able
to do all these things.”
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An IDRC-supported mentoring

program is building competence in

science reporting among journalists

in Africa and the Middle East.



18 I D R C A N N u A l R e P o R T 2 0 0 8 – 2 0 0 9

Enhanced research skills, new
knowledge, fresh perspectives, a

broader international outlook, a deeper
understanding — these are some of the
benefits recipients of IDRC awards reap
from their experience. For Canada,
IDRC’s Training and Awards program
provides opportunities for enhanced
scientific and technical know-how and
increases the pool of experts versed in
crucial international development
issues. For developing countries, the
awards expand the number of trained,
experienced researchers to tackle
practical problems and contribute to
sustainable and equitable development.

The Centre Training and Awards
program embodies our commitment
to the personal and professional devel-
opment of Canadian citizens and per-
manent residents, and of citizens of
developing countries. A variety of
awards allows the best and the bright-
est researchers to pursue academic
studies and conduct field research,
and reflect on how to address global
challenges. In 2008–2009, IDRC con-
ferred 123 awards.

opening windows to the world
Research opportunities expand the pool of development experts

T R A I N I N G A N D A W A R D S

OBJECTIVE 1:
Building a solid
foundation
for innovation

2008–2009 Awards

Community Forestry: Trees and People – John G. Bene Fellowship 1
eCoPolIs Graduate Research and Design Awards 9
IDRC Awards for International Development Journalism 6
IDRC Canadian Window on International Development Awards 1
IDRC Doctoral Research Awards 34
IDRC Graduate Research Awards on evaluation 1
IDRC Internship Awards 16
IDRC sabbatical Awards 5
IDRC science Journalism Awards 4
Professional Development Awards 3
southern Junior Researchers Awards – PhD scholarships 6
southern Junior Researchers Awards – Master’s scholarships 4
southern Junior Researchers Awards – Doctoral Research Awards 32
The Bentley Cropping systems Fellowship 1

TOTAL 123

“I came back with a new perspective
on global politics and issues related
to systemic poverty.”

— Emily Taylor, Canada, IDRC Internship Award

“I hope to contribute to Cameroon’s
national policy on youth by drawing
on my own research.”

— Jude Fokwang, Cameroon, IDRC Doctoral
Research Award

JulIo PANToJA / THe WoRlD BANK HelDuR NeToCNy / PANos PICTuRes
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An enduring contribution
An impressive array of names, titles,
and accomplishments emerges when
you scratch the surface of IDRC’s
contribution to international devel-
opment through its Training and
Awards program.

Jacques Diouf, Director-General of
the Food and Agriculture Organiza-
tion; John Atta-Mills, recently elected
President of Ghana; Mohamed
Sahnoun, former President of Initia-
tives of Change International and
Senior Advisor to the Secretary
General of the UN, and many other
international figures were once sup-
ported by IDRC in their education
or research.

IDRC believes that providing
support to individuals at a critical
time in their professional develop-
ment can foster the growth of a gen-
eration of policymakers, researchers,
and development practitioners who
understand the importance of
research for development.

Since 1971, IDRC has enabled
more than 3000 students to pursue
education or research opportunities,
in their own countries or elsewhere.

A study completed in 2008 located
some 600 former developing-country
awardees. Results of the study revealed
that the vast majority of these students
and researchers returned home after
completing their studies in North

America or Europe, thus contributing
to research capacity and development
efforts in their home regions. Many
of them have since reached high
positions as government officials,
organization leaders, and university
professors. Many more work in
national, regional, and international
organizations. �

By providing research and training

opportunities, IDRC Awards help devel-

oping countries gain a critical mass of

researchers with expertise in develop-

ment issues. They also give citizens and

permanent residents of Canada a chance

to engage in research for development

and to consider careers in the field.

FoR DeveloPING CouNTRIes, THe AWARDs exPAND THe NuMBeR oF

TRAINeD, exPeRIeNCeD ReseARCHeRs To TACKle PRACTICAl PRoBleMs

AND CoNTRIBuTe To susTAINABle AND eQuITABle DeveloPMeNT.

“I considered the opportunity to study
abroad a commitment more than a
privilege. To me, it was a commitment
to apply what I gained academically
in a project of social transformation
in my country.”

— Ramón Fogel, President, Centre for Interdiscipli-
nary Rural Studies, Paraguay

“IDRC’s support was more than receiving
a grant from an unknown donor in
Ottawa. It opened avenues for me,
connected me to networks. It linked me
up to a number of strategic actors who
have been useful throughout my career.”

— Mohamed Halfani, Chief, Urban Governance
Section and Officer In-Charge, Urban Development
Branch, UN Habitat Regional Office for Africa and
Arab States, Tanzania

IDRC: NANCy lessARD HelDuR NeToCNy / PANos PICTuRes IDRC: DAvID BARBouR
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For IDRC, the value of the research we support is how
it improves lives through better policies, cleaner

environments, better nutrition, improved incomes, more
effective health systems, and more. For these improvements
to occur, research results must reach those who can use
them — policymakers at all levels, business leaders, com-
munities, and ordinary citizens among them. IDRC works
to make that happen by ensuring that the research we fund
is relevant, timely, and of high quality; by including com-
munication in those activities; by supporting workshops
and conferences that bring research users to the table; and
by helping to disseminate research results widely.

Engaging local authorities

Over the past decades, IDRC has learned that involving
decision-makers in the research process can help
guarantee success.

For example, when El Hadj Malick Diop became mayor of
Tivaouane, Senegal, in 2002, he was stymied by the lack of
information about his community. How many people lived
in the commune? How many households had access to city
services — water, electricity, telephones? He had no answers.

That is no longer the case, thanks in part to a community-
based poverty monitoring system (CBMS) that he helped
adapt for use in Tivaouane. CBMS is an information-
gathering tool that communities and governments can use
to design, deliver, and monitor local development plans
on the basis of reliable data. Piloted with IDRC support in

the Philippines in 1994, it is now being used in 14 countries
in Africa, Asia, and Latin America.

The survey conducted in Tivaouane revealed a number of
problems in the community and helped authorities offer
targeted solutions. When officials noted that children in
one part of the village were higher achievers, for example,
they decided to build three new schools in underperform-
ing areas. After the survey revealed that 29% of all children
suffered from delayed growth, nutrition programs were
set up for young children, pregnant women, and new
mothers. Identifying the need for better sanitation led to
the installation of 8 km of rainwater drainage gutters.

“No local development actor now ever thinks to question
the importance of accurate information in decision-making,”
Diop says. His view is echoed by Kouka Edouard Nanema,
former mayor of Yako, a town in Burkina Faso that has
also benefited from CBMS data-gathering. “Whoever has
information is wealthy,” Nanema says. “I needed reliable
data. I was working in the dark, which made it difficult to
obtain financing. The CBMS results are already being
used to improve people’s welfare.”

Evidence into action

If research findings and new knowledge are to influence
policies, and improve practices and technologies, they
must be communicated. One of the most effective ways
of doing this is for researchers to engage with policy-
makers and communities. Research supported by IDRC
is increasingly doing just that.

B R I N G I N G P E O P L E A N D I D E A S T O G E T H E R T O I M P R O V E L I V E S

Informed decisions, stronger societies

INFLUENCING
POLICIES
2008–2009:

59
new research
projects with explicit
policy-influence
objectives

212
projects with explicit
policy-influence
objectives active at
year-end

59
new research
activities with explicit
policy-influence
objectives

214
research activities
with explicit policy-
influence objectives
active at year-end

312
recipient institutions
involved

o B J e C T I v e : IDRC helps to produce, disseminate, and apply research results

that can improve practices and technologies, lead to sound policies

and laws, and thus improve people’s well-being.

2
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For example, researchers working to offset the impacts
of climate change for farmers in Benin have helped to set
up early warning committees that bring together local
authorities, development workers, meteorologists, and
farmers. The committees, now active in 35 communes,
meet regularly to provide farmers with information they
need to foresee climate risks. Researchers in the Horn of
Africa, meanwhile, are developing indices on insurance
coverage for farmers practising rain-fed agriculture. The
Ethiopian Insurance Authority has expressed interest in
using the study’s results as it works out insurance pack-
ages to be offered to farmers. These two initiatives form
part of Climate Change Adaptation in Africa, a collabora-
tion launched in 2006 with the UK’s Department for Inter-
national Development that currently supports 38 research
and capacity-building projects in 29 countries.

Influencing policy also takes time and patience — and it
requires being at the right place at the right time. Those
are some of the findings of an in-depth examination of

how the research IDRC supports is influencing public
policy and decision-making. The results, presented in
Knowledge to Policy: Making the Most of Development
Research, co-published by IDRC and Sage Publications in
2009, also show that researchers need to make their ideas
and findings accessible to the audiences they hope to
influence, in a form they can best use.

On the following pages, researchers talk about how the
projects they are carrying out with IDRC funding are
changing laws and attitudes, supporting women’s rights,
and improving health. �

In crucial areas like agriculture and public health, IDRC

communicates research findings to policymakers, business

leaders, communities, and ordinary citizens so that they

can use these results to improve people’s lives.

IDRC has learned that involving decision-makers in the research
process can help guarantee success.
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Barbados and Trinidad

and Tobago are consid-

ering changes needed to

improve the responsive-

ness of the social services

and the administration of

justice to child support

cases.The problems: many poor female-

headed households; social assistance

and legal systems that implicitly assume

that children are primarily the mother’s

responsibility; and an overburdened

court system.

With IDRC support, legal experts from

the two countries set out to assess how

social assistance and legal systems could

be reformed to help more women and

children escape poverty.

Leading the groundbreaking com-

parative study between Barbados and

Trinidad and Tobago was Roberta Clarke,

Regional Programme Director for the

Caribbean Office of the United Nations

Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM).

R o B e R T A C l A R K e

Our research focused on two ques-
tions: one, what is the state’s role in
regulating the transfer of financial
resources between custodial and non-
custodial parents; second, what is the
state’s role in contributing to the eco-
nomic well-being of poor house-
holds. These are usually female-
headed because women have fewer
employment opportunities and are
primarily responsible for the care of
children and the elderly.

UNIFEM did the research in
Barbados and Trinidad and Tobago,
in partnership with the Faculty of
Law at the University of the West Indies,
Barbados and the Grenada Legal Aid
and Counselling Clinic, which led the
study of the social assistance systems.
We set up the project with an advi-
sory team made up of all stakeholders
in the system in the two countries

and got a high level of support from
the Administration of Justice and the
Chief Justices in both countries. It
was truly a collaboration.

We reviewed three years’ worth of
court files to examine how the courts
were functioning — the time it took
from when a case was filed to its
determination, for example, and the
outcomes, including the amount of
the financial support orders. We then
interviewed stakeholders and users
of the system, men and women,
magistrates, probation officers, mar-
shals of the court, etc. There was a
general dissatisfaction about per-
ceived administrative inefficiencies
and the level of non-compliance
with court orders. The research also
found that the justice sector and
social services were not adequately
integrated in their support of poor
households, particularly single
parent, women-headed households.

IDRC grant: Project duration:
(2 phases) (2 phases)
$446 490 2004–2010

ensuring fair treatment for women in Caribbean courts
Research changes laws to reduce poverty

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : R o B e R T A C l A R K e

OBJECTIVE 2:
Bringing people
and ideas together
to improve lives
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Fighting gender bias
The research revealed the widespread
and gender stereotypical assumption
that children are the mother’s respon-
sibility. To some extent women’s con-
tributions are therefore under-counted
in determining the contribution
required of the non-custodial parent,
usually the father. Similarly, social
assistance works on the principle that
the family as a whole is responsible for
the children. That means that the
custodial parents applying for help —
usually women — must first try to get
support from the non-custodial parent
before they can qualify for assistance.

The research was able to document
that recent changes in the treatment of
family law cases in the pilot Trinidad

Family Court have improved the deliv-
ery of family justice. There the amount
of child support orders is higher, cases
are completed more quickly, and the
decision-making is clearly informed
by principles of gender equality. There
is less gender stereotyping and a clear
focus on what is in the best interests
of the child.

Changing laws
When we finished the research in
2008, we presented the findings to
court personnel, relevant officials, and
researchers. In Barbados, the Attorney-
General and Ministry of Family,
Youth and Sports have indicated their
interest in moving forward to reform
the child support law. This was the

project’s main intention, to support
Barbados in law reform.

In Trinidad and Tobago, the
research was able to show where the
new family court has improved
services. The research results were also
used to provide technical support to
the Organisation of Eastern Caribbean
States Family Law Reform Project,
more specifically to drafting model
child support legislation. In addition,
the research was presented to a consul-
tation in Antigua and Barbuda and
was used in that country’s legislative
reform process. A new child support
law for Antigua and Barbuda went
through Parliament in April 2008. �

In Barbados and in Trinidad and

Tobago, the findings of a ground-

breaking IDRC-funded study promote

the reform of child support laws,

allowing more women and children

to escape poverty.

“IDRC provided very thoughtful research guidance.
They don’t see themselves as just a funder, they
engage in the methodological questions, they ask
you pointed and searching questions.”
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In Novemeber 2008, the

Intergovernmental

Commission of the Central

American Initiative for

Chagas Disease Control

confirmed that Guatemala

had become the first coun-

try in Central America to be certified for

interruption of Chagas disease transmis-

sion by Rhodnius prolixus, one of the dis-

ease’s two most important vectors. The

means: spraying homes with insecticides

and replastering walls and floors to bar

the insect from houses. An estimated

10 million people in the Americas are

infected with Chagas, which is often fatal.

The second vector, the triatomine

bug, is a more formidable foe, one

that can’t be eradicated by spraying.

Researchers funded by IDRC have now

found the means to defeat it.

The research is led by medical ento-

mologist Maria Carlota Monroy, founder

and senior researcher at the laboratory

of Applied entomology and Parasitology

at san Carlos university in Guatemala.

Her team includes researchers, engin-

eers, architects, the national Ministry

of Health, and the national vector

Control Program. equally important, the

communities themselves participate.

M A R I A C A R l o T A M o N R o y

We are looking for new ways of attack-
ing a native vector of Chagas (Triatoma
dimidiata) without using insecticides,
by removing the factors that encourage
these insects to live in houses. We help
them construct chicken coops, small pig

houses. With the two veterinarians, we
tell them how to keep the animals in
good health. While preventing Chagas
disease, families also improve their
quality of life.

This is something original. The ten-
dency in developing countries is to
copy what other countries are doing —
for example, spraying — and many
times these approaches don’t apply to
their reality. We need to do research to
address the problems that we have.

A concerted approach
We work with the Ministry of Health
and the local representatives. And we
work with field workers, the people

who apply the rules. Guatemala has
22 different departments and 23 differ-
ent languages, so it’s not easy. Our
research team also includes members
of local communities.

Guatemala is now seen as some-
thing of a leader in Central America
in this area. Three months ago, I was
invited by the Ministry of Health in
Honduras to train 30 of their staff. And
I will be in Mexico in the fall teaching
our methods. �

“IDRC encouraged me to think in another way and
that’s what I’m doing with the people I work with.
That’s important [...] to produce new knowledge based
on what we have around.”

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : M A R I A C A R l o T A M o N R o y

IDRC grant: Project duration:
(2 projects) (both projects)
$674 300 2004–2009

Improving health in Guatemala
simple measures prevent the spread of disease

OBJECTIVE 2:
Bringing people
and ideas together
to improve lives

IDRC-supported researchers studying

the control of Chagas disease work

closely with local communities.
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Women in Arab coun-

tries are making

human rights history as

they break down barriers to

being treated as full citizens

in their own countries. In the

past few years women in

Algeria, Egypt, and Morocco married to

foreigners have won the right to transmit

their citizenship to their children. Algerian

women can also now convey citizenship

rights to their spouses.

Before these hard-won gains women

married to foreigners had to apply for

temporary residency permits for family

members — even their own children —

who also faced restrictions in health care,

education, jobs, and travel. Research sup-

ported by IDRC contributed to changing

these policies in Egypt in 2004, in Algeria

in 2005, and most recently in Morocco.

Lina Abou Habib, Executive Director of

the Beirut-based Collective for Research

and Training on Development-Action,

helps spearhead the regional “Claiming

Equal Citizenship”campaign.

l I N A A B o u H A B I B

Nationality has become a big political
and media issue, but it wasn’t when we
started in 2002. We had found one thing
in common in all Arab countries —
nationality laws discriminate against
women. They basically say that men can
transmit their nationality to their spouses
and children, but women cannot.

When we started talking to the
media, they were interested in facts,
figures, and human-interest stories, but

we didn’t have any. We lacked hard
data. So we went back to square one
— research.

With IDRC support, we conducted
research in three main areas. We wanted
to know how the denial of rights
affected the lives of women in the seven
countries we studied. We wanted to
know how many people we were talk-
ing about. And we wanted to analyze
the nationality laws and their contexts
in each country.

From research to campaign
The findings allowed us to figure out
just what exactly it means to be a
woman deprived of her rights: if she is
married to a foreigner, her children
are actually strangers in their own

country. The findings allowed us to
make the issue visible and to launch a
campaign in 2004.

The research produced loads of
material that the media just fed on. It
gave us an edge over the politicians
because we had data. And it empowered
women, in terms of talking to the media.

Nationality has now become a big
issue, a political issue, a media issue.
When we started, it was a marginal
issue. The research has transformed
this completely. �

“What IDRC brings to the table is risk-taking
coupled with an understanding of what might
turn out to be a key issue.”

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : l I N A A B o u H A B I B

IDRC grant: Project duration:
$400 000 2002–2004

ensuring women’s full rights
Research leads to change in the Arab world

OBJECTIVE 2:
Bringing people
and ideas together
to improve lives

In Algeria, Egypt, and Morocco, IDRC-

funded research has strengthened a

women’s campaign for equal rights

and citizenship.
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To be useful, research results must
reach those who can use them.

Throughout its history, IDRC has
believed that knowledge must be shared
to bring about positive change in
some of the world’s poorest countries.

We do so in many ways, from
peer-reviewed academic texts to sem-
inars and conferences.

IDRC Books is a respected brand
— we call our publications “Books that
Matter” because of the importance of
the contents to improving lives in the
developing world. Working with aca-
demic and commercial co-publishers
around the world helps ensure strong
marketing and wide dissemination
of books. This year we signed co-
publication agreements with publish-
ers in Mexico, India, South Africa, and
Spain, as well as Canada, France, and
the UK, among others.

A leading publisher of international
development literature since 1971,
IDRC is also a leader in providing
open access to its collection. By

maintaining electronic rights and
making the books available full-text,
free of charge on our website, we en-
sure that the knowledge is available to
all: 266 e-books are now available on
our website. E-book vendors also
ensure the broadest accessibility of the
research results. Experience has shown
that making our books fully accessible
on the Web increases print sales.

A variety of other publications
distill research results for targeted
audiences. These include:
� the in_focus collections, each of

which synthesizes a body of knowl-
edge distilled from IDRC-supported
research. In April 2008, Competition

for Development: The Power of
Competitive Markets, by Phil Evans
and IDRC staff member Susan
Joekes, was launched at the Inter-
national Competition Network,
(ICN) Seventh Annual Conference
in Kyoto, Japan, where it was men-
tioned in opening remarks by
Canada’s then Commissioner of
Competition and head of ICN,
Sheridan Scott.

� our electronic newsletter, IDRC
Bulletin, distributed to some 15 000
subscribers.

� the Research that Matters and IDRC
on…series of pamphlets that present
research results on topical issues.

sharing knowledge around the world
IDRC leads the way in opening access to research findings

I N F O R M A T I O N F O R C H A N G E

OBJECTIVE 2:
Bringing people
and ideas together
to improve lives

“I work for a university with 14 schools
and over 200 departments, both academic and
administrative. My intention is that each department
gets a copy of the IDRC CD.”

– Lily Nyarik, Moi University, Kenya

IDRC
CRDI

Knowledge works
Le savoir porte fruit

I N T E R N AT I O N A L D E V E LO PM E N T

R E S E A R C H C E N T R E

C E N T R E D E R E C H E R C H E S P O U R

L E D É V E LO P P EM E N T I N T E R N AT I O N A L

idrc.ca
crdi.ca

Since the early 1970s, IDRC has
supported the efforts of researchers
in the English-speaking Caribbean

to reduce poverty and inequality, restore
degraded coastal ecosystems, and pro-
tect communities against disease and
natural disasters. Improved farming
and fishing practices have figured
prominently in the research, along with
education, housing, and gender equity.

Recent IDRC-funded work focusing on
trade and the economy has introduced
technological advances to government
and commerce. After IDRC support
helped Jamaica automate its customs
service, Jamaica donated its new soft-
ware to neighbouring countries taking
part in an IDRC-funded expansion of
the modernization drive.

Other initiatives have been regional by
design. IDRC has helped to build a
network of environmental economists,
for example. The Latin American and
Caribbean Environmental Economics
Program, launched in 2005, specializes
in applied research that makes the
c

either to adopt competition laws or
reinforce existing ones to deal with
companies that abuse their dominant
market positions. In 2008, the
Caribbean Community (CARICOM)
s

IDRC
I N T E R N A T I O N A L D E V E L O P M E N T R E S E A R C H C E N T R E
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IDRC support is helping:

�� health workers tackle disease
o tbreaks

Total IDRC support 
221 activities 
worth CA$52 million 
since 1971 

Research on coastal management has led
to greater community involvement in 
protecting aquatic resources.

IDRC in the Caribbean

Amedida que la crisis financiera global se
expande sobre las economías locales, provo-
cando bancarrotas y desempleo, los medios

de vida habituales están amenazados en todas
partes, especialmente en los países en desarrollo.
En condiciones políticas y económicas frágiles, los
sistemas financieros son propensos a la volatilidad.
Incluso los sistemas locales más sólidos son vulne-
rables al colapso más general de la confianza. La
inestabilidad en un país puede provocar inestabili-
dad en otros y, cuando esto ocurre, los países
pobres tienen pocos recursos para defenderse.

Los responsables políticos han sido inundados con
propuestas de soluciones, algunas teñidas por enfo-
ques ideológicos o intereses económicos especiales. Pero lo que los responsables
políticos necesitan es evidencia empírica sólida, surgida de investigación creíble
e independiente.

La misión del Centro Internacional de Investigaciones para el Desarrollo
(IDRC) es apoyar la ciencia al servicio de la reducción de la pobreza. En este
breve informe, el IDRC busca resumir el conocimiento que ayude a los países
en desarrollo a unirse de manera más eficaz a la economía mundial. Durante
dos décadas, el IDRC ha invertido en investigación sobre las finanzas globales.
Este trabajo ha planteado preguntas fundamentales sobre los problemas de
gobernanza económica que, para algunos, están en la raíz de la actual crisis.
Estos estudios han ayudado a países pobres a fortalecer su posición negocia-
dora — y a comprender sus opciones — en la actual emergencia.

EL PROBLEMA DEL
EXCESO DE DINERO
La crisis latinoamericana de la
deuda de los años 1980 desconectó
en gran medida a las economías
locales de los mercados de capital y
condujo a grandes penurias. A pesar
de la severidad de “la década per-
dida”, a comienzos de los años 90
capitales privados externos comen-
zaron a volver a la región

Este retorno fue bienvenido porque
impulsó la inversión y alivió la rece-
sión, pero también trajo efectos
indeseados — en las tasas de cambio,
e

UNA VOZ PARA LOS PRIVADOS DE REPRESENTACIÓN
Cuando los países pobres intervienen
e d liberaciones políticas de institu-
c

Asuntos Monetarios Internacionales
y Desarrollo.
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Our books don’t sell millions of copies but

they’re essential reading. We’re Canada’s

International Development Research Centre

(IDRC), and our free online books cover

global development topics that could

improve millions of lives—from making

health care more accessible to supporting

sustainable agriculture to giving women

equitable access to opportunities.

www.idrc.ca/booksthatmatter

NO BESTSELLERS.
NO POTBOILERS.
JUST TRUTH
AND JUSTICE.

IDRC: TeCKles PHoToGRAPHy
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For the fifth consecutive year, most
of this material — full-text e-books,
Bulletin items, and sections of our web-
site — appeared on a two-CD set. The
annual CD set is an important, conven-
ient, and cost-effective means of dis-
seminating information about IDRC
and results of IDRC-supported research
around the world, particularly in areas
with poor Internet connectivity.

IDRC is also a leader in making
available its comprehensive collection
of research results and documents
generated by IDRC-funded projects,
recipients, and staff about a wide range
of subjects related to international

development. Launched in 2007, the
IDRC Digital Library provides full
access over the Internet to our rich
research archive. In addition to making
information more freely available, the
digital library provides IDRC-funded
researchers with a much-needed outlet
to publish and showcase their work.

Participating in large international
conferences also allows us to dissemi-
nate research results and engage with
key target audiences, such as policy-
makers and media. Among the con-
ferences in which we participated this
year are:

� Decentralization, Local Power
and Women’s Rights conference
in Mexico

� Global Ministerial Forum on
Research for Health in Bamako, Mali

� International Ecohealth Forum 2008
in Merida, Mexico

� Internet Governance Forum in
Hyderabad, India

� 5th World Water Forum in
Istanbul, Turkey

� World Urban Forum (Fourth
Session) in Nanjing, China �

Knowledge by
numbers

23
books co-published by
IDRC and other publish-
ers during 2008–2009

101
e-books available on the
two-CD set IDRC 2009

266
e-books available on
IDRC’s website
(www.idrc.ca/books)

37 000
research documents
accessible from the IDRC
Digital library
(idl.bnc.idrc.ca)

22.7 million
page views generated on
the website by IDRC
books during 2008

By MAINTAINING eleCTRoNIC RIGHTs AND MAKING THe BooKs

AvAIlABle Full-TexT, FRee oF CHARGe oN ouR WeBsITe,

IDRC eNsuRes THAT THe KNoWleDGe Is AvAIlABle To All.

Opening windows
to the world

IDRCIDRC
Awards

IDRC 2009

CRDI 2009

I N T E R N AT I O N A L D E V E L O P M E N T R E S E A R C H C E N T R E

CENTRE DE RECHERCHES POUR LE DÉVELOPPEMENT INTERNATIONAL

Includes

101 e-books
�

Contient

101 livres

électroniques

JOIN US TO HEAR:

Isher Judge Ahluwalia, Leading Economist March 18

C. V. Madhukar, Expert on India’s Parliament March 27

Anand Giridharadas, New York Times Correspondent April 2

Stephen P. Cohen, Brookings Institution Security Expert April 9

Suman K. Bery, Economist and Prominent Think-Tank Leader May 22

Shashi Tripathi, Member, Union Public Service Commission J

All lectures take place at IDRC (150 Kent Street, 8th ;oor, Ottawa) from
2:00 PM to 3:30 PM. They are free but seating is limited, so please register
a

Theworld’s largest
democracy is changing fast.
But where is India headed?

For answers, come to IDRC.

This year, the International Development Research
Centre (IDRC) is hosting some of India’s leading
scholars andmost provocative thinkers. The series
marks the 25th anniversary of IDRC’s regional
o:ce in New Delhi.

India i
f in_focus

Competition
THE POWER OF

COMPETITIVE MARKETS

Susan Joekes and Phil Evans

and Development

IDRC2009
CRDI2009

� An update on IDRC activities
� Une mise à jour des activités du CRDI

© IDRC/CRDI 2009

Disk 1 / Disque 1

IDRC: MICHAel BeDFoRD
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For nearly 40 years, IDRC has supported research in the
developing world, helping to nurture the innovative

capacity that resides there. As part of this mandate, we have
helped forge relationships between Canadian and developing-
world researchers, bringing the best minds together to
address some of the world’s pressing challenges, whether
climate change, influenza, or financial crises.

Partnerships also contribute to IDRC’s effectiveness by
widening the scope of our activities and helping bring
particular activities to scale. The goals of these collabora-
tions: world-class discoveries and healthier, wealthier,
fairer societies.

Linking the brightest minds

Notable among the collaborative activities launched in
2008–2009 is the International Research Chairs Initiative,
a joint endeavour between IDRC and the Canada Research
Chairs Program. Eight stellar scientists from the develop-
ing world have been chosen to join forces with a Canada
Research Chair on a five-year program of research and
training. With each team receiving a grant of up to
$1 million, IDRC Research Chairs will have the funds to
hire graduate students, attract post-doctoral researchers,
and fill laboratories with the equipment they need to do
cutting-edge research on shared concerns such as fisheries
management, child nutrition, and wireless communica-
tions (see page 34).

The Global Health Research Initiative (GHRI), launched
in 2001, also brings together the knowledge, experience,

and resources of five key partners: Health Canada, the
Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the Canadian
International Development Agency, IDRC, and the Public
Health Agency of Canada, which joined the partnership
this year. The goal: to develop practical solutions for
the health and healthcare problems of low- and middle-
income countries.

GHRI’s flagship initiative, the Teasdale-Corti Global
Health Research Partnership Program, is supporting
14 teams of Canadian–developing-country researchers.
For example, researchers from Burkina Faso, Mali, and
Canada are investigating treatment delays in obstetric
emergencies as they study the access to health care of
vulnerable populations. The project takes aim at one of
the starkest health inequalities on the planet: the one in
16 lifetime risk of dying from pregnancy-related compli-
cations faced by women in sub-Saharan Africa (compared
with one in 2800 in rich countries).

This year, the Teasdale-Corti Program also granted Global
Health Leadership Awards to 13 extraordinary individuals
from 12 countries, enabling them to pursue individualized
professional development programs.

Investing in our future

Benefits from these and other collaborations accrue to
Canada as well as to developing countries in terms of
increasing and maintaining research excellence and
strengthening Canada’s connection to the world’s pool
of talent and ideas.

E N L I S T I N G C A N A D I A N S F O R G R E AT E R I M PA C T

Increased collaboration, bolder solutions

SUPPORT
TO CANADIAN
INSTITUTIONS
2008–2009:

28
new research
projects

98
research
projects active
at year-end

52
new research
activities

158
research
activities
at year-end

109
Canadian
institutions
currently
involved

$10.5m
IDRC’s
contribution
to activities
funded in
2008–2009

$65.2m
total IDRC
funding to
Canadian
institutions for
active research

o B J e C T I v e : IDRC will engage Canadians in research for development through

partnerships with researchers and institutions in the developing world.

3
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IDRC also works to spur the interest and expertise of the
Canadian academic and development community. The
Global Citizenship Small Grants, for example, enable
Canadian organizations to address issues of social and
economic justice, environmental protection, participation,
peace and security, and human rights in a global perspec-
tive. Now in its 15th year, the program demonstrates the
Centre’s commitment to working with institutions that seek
to improve Canadians’ understanding of issues that affect
both Canada and lower-income countries, and that require
North-South collaboration to be addressed effectively.

Enlisting the donor community

Partnerships at IDRC also mean funding agreements with
other donors — foundations, multilateral organizations,
Canadian and foreign government departments, academic
institutions, and non-governmental organizations — to
increase the resources flowing to applied research in

developing countries. For example, the Centre has teamed
up with The William and Flora Hewlett Foundation and
the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation on the US$90 million
10-year Think Tank Initiative, which is set to forge new
links among independent policy research institutes in the
developing world. In an initial round of grants, 24 institutes
in West and East Africa were selected this year to receive
long-term core support, enabling them to hire and hold on
to top researchers, improve the quality of their research,
and strengthen overall management and governance.

In 2008–2009, IDRC worked with 24 donor partners, five
of them Canadian. Funding from Canadian partnerships
totalled $26.7 million. CIDA remains IDRC’s major part-
ner in Canada. �

IDRC brings together top researchers from Canada and

the developing world to tackle some of the world’s most

pressing challenges.

The goals of these collaborations: world-class discoveries
and healthier, wealthier, fairer societies.
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For the past three years,

IDRC, in partnership

with the Centre for Inter-

national Governance Inno-

vation (CIGI) in Waterloo,

Canada, and Beijing

Normal University, has

helped to build a research network on

poverty in China — the first of its kind

in the world’s fastest-growing economy.

The goal has been to support

promising young scholars and encour-

age fresh thinking in an area of increas-

ing concern to China: the rising

inequality that has accompanied high

economic growth.

The achievements are heartening,

as a remarkable group of senior

Chinese and international economists

mentors a new generation of scholars

undertaking applied research on

poverty and inequality in China: 19

young Chinese economists, assisted by

almost as many respected senior schol-

ars, are breaking new ground as they

explore applied research on poverty

and inequality in China.

The Young China Scholars Poverty

Research Network is coordinated by

John Whalley, professor of economics at

the University of Western Ontario,

Canada, and a CIGI Distinguished Fellow,

and Li Shi, professor of economics at

Beijing Normal University.

J o H N W H A l l e y

My interest had long been on global
issues and global trade and invest-
ment issues. Increasingly, you can’t
really work on those issues from a
global perspective without recogniz-
ing the significance of China.

This project stems from the mid-
1990s when a group of scholars in the
poverty area emerged who had
achieved some prominence, but there
were relatively few of them. There was
a need for a new generation of young
poverty scholars to come forward to
contribute to the debate.

Since 1999, China has made huge
commitments to increasing resources
to universities and research institutes.
The impact has been quite dramatic
with large numbers of graduate stu-
dents coming into North American
and European programs, some
returning to China. This has led to
changes in teaching practices in China.

Reciprocal benefits
The young scholars’ work has helped
deepen understanding of the dynam-
ics of poverty and inequality, and
their data work has helped show that
inequality is now beginning to
plateau in China. For example, one
study found that earning differentials
between migrant workers and local
workers had decreased between 2001
and 2005, and that discrimination
against migrant workers had eased
slightly. Another study showed that
poor rural people would benefit
more if their outpatient care was
subsidized than from having hospital
care reimbursed.

This kind of research is essential
for developing effective public policy
to reduce inequality. Over the longer
term, these young scholars may very
well be the leaders of tomorrow.
The role and influence of their

IDRC grant: Project duration:
$400 000 2006–2009

Building bridges in economics research
Canadian and Chinese economists join forces against poverty

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : J o H N W H A l l e y

OBJECTIVE 3:
enlisting Canadians
for greater impact
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contribution will be enduring and
greatly valued within China.

I’ve been impressed by their enthu-
siasm, their commitment, and their
willingness to work hard to learn.

In fact, working with them has, I
think, affected my own research in a
number of critical ways. I now tend
to see China as an increasingly
market-oriented economy, but one
to which you can’t mechanically
apply the same kind of analyses that
you would typically produce for
developed economies.

Working with the young scholars
has brought home to me that you
have to nuance the work that you do
as it’s applied not just to China, but to
all developing countries.

IDRC’s financial support has been
very welcome, but IDRC offers more
than that. It’s also the intellectual
support. The program officers we’ve
worked with have made many con-
tributions and suggestions. It’s also
very appealing to us that IDRC-
supported research projects are to a
large degree initiated in the develop-
ing world to meet the needs they
identify as priorities. �

China’s economic boom has been

accompanied by rising inequality. IDRC

supports young scholars and senior

economists who bring fresh thinking

to the problem of poverty.

“What stands out for me is IDRC’s very strong
commitment to working with young scholars
in a network format.”
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In 2000 ekwendeni hospi-

tal in northern Malawi set

out to improve the child

nutrition, food security, and

soil fertility of poor farm

households. How? By inter-

cropping protein-rich

legumes like pigeon pea, soybeans, and

groundnuts that fix nitrogen in the soil,

thus boosting crop yields while reducing

the need for expensive fertilizers.

Malawian and Canadian researchers —

agricultural, nutritional, and social scien-

tists — worked with hospital staff and

farmers to find the“best legume options.”

supported by IDRC since 2001, the project

has improved nutrition, particularly of

women and children. After eight years, the

children of families involved show signifi-

cant weight increases. This makes a good

case that soil health and community

health are connected. legumes are now

part of the diet in the area. The research

has also helped strengthen the communi-

ties and build trust among their members.

The research is a collaboration

between ekwendeni Hospital, Health-

Bridge Foundation of Canada, and the

university of Western ontario’s Depart-

ment of Geography. other supporters

include the Canadian Foodgrains Bank

and the social sciences and Humanities

Research Council of Canada, among

others. The project coordinator is nutri-

tionist lizzie shumba.

l I z z I e s H u M B A

Canadian researchers helped us
understand why we had high rates of
malnutrition and problems with food
security. Then they worked with us to
test legume intercropping techniques
and to establish a baseline for our
research on child nutrition by meas-
uring the children’s weight for height,
and age for height.

We started with 30 farmers in
seven pilot villages. These farmers
were trained in research techniques.
Now, more than 7000 farmers are
involved, and so many more are
interested in learning the technolo-
gies. Farmers see that using legumes
to improve their soil fertility is
sustainable and it reduces the need
to buy fertilizers.

The families are also seeing that by
eating legumes, children have better
nutrition. We go out, especially after
the harvest, and show communities
how to process and use the legumes to
improve children’s diets. These “recipe
days” are becoming very popular. I’m
really happy because the rural people
are saying that they are happy.

We are now collaborating with the
Bunda College of Agriculture of the
University of Malawi to expand our
approach into different areas of
Malawi. �

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : l I z z I e s H u M B A

IDRC grant: Project duration:
(2 phases) (2 phases)
$879 890 2001–2008

Bringing research to farmers’ fields in Malawi
Bigger crops lead to better health with Canadian collaboration

OBJECTIVE 3:
enlisting Canadians
for greater impact

In Malawi, IDRC-supported research on

the cultivation of protein-rich legumes

has both improved soil fertility and

boosted child nutrition.

“We started with 30 farmers in seven pilot villages.
Now, more than 7000 farmers are involved and so
many more are interested in learning the technologies.”
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Nursing faculty and

students from the

Caribbean could soon be

participating in exchanges

with counterparts in

Saskatchewan.The Cana-

dian Nurses Association has

opened its Internet portal, NurseONE, to

Caribbean nurses — a first.

These are two of the outcomes of

IDRC-supported research to improve the

quality of care in Caribbean hospitals by

providing nurses with access to much

needed medical information and to train-

ing materials.The tools to do so: wireless

networks in hospitals and hand-held

personal digital assistants (PDAs) for

nursing staff.

The research is administered by the

College of Nursing, University of

Saskatchewan (Regina). Spearheading

the project in St Kitts and Nevis are

Dr Hazel Roberts and information

technology consultant Glenville Daniel.

According to Dr Roberts, “The project

would not have been possible had it not

been for the sponsorship of IDRC. They

have been very flexible.”

G l e N v I l l e D A N I e l

One of the big problems here is the
lack of information technology tools
in the workplace. When our hospital
was rebuilt in 2003, it should have
been equipped with network wiring
— but that wasn’t done. As a result, I
had to establish a wireless network
from scratch.

This project is seen as a pilot to
determine what the new norm
should be in using information and

communication technology in a clini-
cal setting. The study looks at how
PDAs can affect care-delivery in the
nursing field for diabetes, hyperten-
sion, and HIV. Seventeen nurses
have been given a PDA, loaded with
medical software (including a med-
ical dictionary, 5-minute consultation
guide, and the like) and wireless access.
We are also following 13 nurses who
have not been given PDAs.

An enthusiastic uptake
Nurses are seeing the value of such a
device and have said the PDAs have
enhanced their timely access to infor-
mation. We have even seen a couple of
nurses use them as a teaching tool to
explain to a patient that they were
going to have a particular procedure,
something we didn’t expect.

Another thing that I am hoping to
see, which is already underway, is the
establishment of a health information
system on the island. The government
IT department is in the process of
developing this, and we have been talk-
ing to them and giving them some ideas.

I give this work a very high mark
already. It is revolutionizing the way
nurses access information in a clini-
cal setting, not just in nursing. The
effects of the project will touch every-
one, no matter where they are from
on the islands. �

“It is revolutionizing the way nurses access information
in a clinical setting... the effects of the project will touch
everyone, no matter where they are from on the islands.”

I N T H E I R O W N W O R D S : G l e N v I l l e D A N I e l

IDRC grant: Project duration:
(2 projects) (both projects)
$1.64 million 2006–2011

Putting medical knowledge at nurses’ fingertips
A Canadian program helps improve health care in the Caribbean

OBJECTIVE 3:
enlisting Canadians
for greater impact

An IDRC-funded project in St Kitts and

Nevis equips nurses with personal digital

assistants to help them access informa-

tion and provide better health care.
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Leading researchers from Canada and around the
globe are pooling their know-how to address some

of the world’s most pressing challenges. These experts
come together under the International Research Chairs
Initiative, funded by Canada’s International Development
Research Centre in collaboration with the Canada
Research Chairs Program.

The Initiative pairs top research talent from universities
in Canada with their counterparts in developing countries.
These specialists share their advanced skills and knowl-
edge to confront issues of common concern while mentor-
ing a new generation of scholars.

Eight International Research Chairs partnerships were
announced in February 2009 by Canada’s Minister of State
(Science and Technology), the Honourable Gary Goodyear.
Working at universities in Brazil, China, Ghana, India,
Morocco, and Uganda, each IDRC Research Chair is
pursuing a five-year research program in collaboration
with a Canada Research Chair.

The goals of this joint effort: world-class discoveries
and healthier, wealthier, fairer societies. �

Connecting excellence
eminent scholars team up to find answers

I N T E R N A T I O N A L R E S E A R C H C H A I R S I N I T I A T I V E

OBJECTIVE 3:
enlisting Canadians
for greater impact
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1. Alpina Begossi Brazil, (right)
IDRC Research Chair in
Community-Based Resource
Management

Fikret Berkes (left)
Canada Research Chair in
Community-based Resource
Management

In Paraty, in Brazil’s Rio de
Janeiro state, the research team
works with coastal fishing
communities to help safeguard
endangered marine resources,
diversify income sources, and
increase food security.

2. Adalto Bianchini Brazil, (left)
IDRC Research Chair in
environmental Health and
Management

Christopher Wood (right)
Canada Research Chair in
environment and Health

After studying heavily
populated estuaries in Brazil,
the researchers confront
worsening pollution in such
coastal areas by exploring
new ways to manage industrial
regulation, human settlement,
and urban policies.

3. Yiming Shao China, (right)
IDRC Research Chair in
Modelling and Management
of Communicable Diseases

Jianhong Wu (left)
Canada Research Chair
in Industrial and Applied
Mathematics

With data gathered in China,
the scientists use mathematical
models to predict the transmis-
sion of infectious diseases, such
as HIV, and to develop public
health policies to control them.

4. Xiaoyan Zhu China, (left)
IDRC Research Chair
in Information Technology

Ming Li (right)
Canada Research Chair
in Bioinformatics

The research team seeks to
develop a “natural-language”
search engine to make the
Internet accessible to Chinese
people with no English, to the
visually impaired, and to mobile
phone users.

1.

2.

3.

4.

THESE LEADING RESEARCHERS SHARE THEIR ADVANCED SKILLS

AND KNOWLEDGE TO CONFRONT ISSUES OF COMMON CONCERN

WHILE MENTORING A NEW GENERATION OF SCHOLARS.
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5. Anna Lartey Ghana, (left)
IDRC Research Chair
in Nutrition for Health and
socio-economic Development
in sub-saharan Africa

Grace S. Marquis (right)
Canada Research Chair
in social and environmental
Aspects of Nutrition

In Ghana, the researchers study
child malnutrition, especially in
HIV-affected households, and
diet-related obesity in children,
and seek to develop a range
of approaches to encourage
better eating habits.

6. Ranjan K. Mallik India, (left)
IDRC Research Chair
in Wireless Communications

Robert Schober (right)
Canada Research Chair
in Wireless Communications

The team aims to boost the
wireless communication sector
in India and in Canada by
generating new ideas for
enhanced, affordable products.

7. Rachid Hakkou Morocco, (right)
IDRC Research Chair in
Management and stabilization
of Mining and Industrial Waste

Mostafa Benzaazoua (left)
Canada Research Chair
on Integrated Management
of Mine Waste

To improve public health in
Morocco, the team proposes
to create a centre for advanced
technology to manage mining
and industrial waste, including
cost-effective ways to reclaim
abandoned mine sites.

8. Nelson Sewankambo
uganda, (left)
IDRC Research Chair
in evidence-Informed Health
Policies and systems

John Lavis (right)
Canada Research Chair
in Knowledge Transfer
and exchange

To support evidence-informed
health policies, the team will
evaluate 11 World Health
Organization websites dedi-
cated to bolstering the effective-
ness of health systems.

7.

8.

5.

6.
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For almost 40 years, IDRC has supported local researchers
and innovators as they find new ways to improve health,
reduce poverty, and promote democracy in their countries.
In doing so it has earned credibility that is second to none.

IDRC has also enhanced Canada’s reputation as a far-
sighted and generous country, and as an important and
innovative member of the international community. And it
does so at a modest cost: Parliamentary appropriations to
IDRC represent only 3.9% of the Canadian development
assistance budget.

Sharing goals

The November 2008 Speech from the Throne made it clear
that fostering development and security around the world
remain Canadian priorities. These are goals IDRC shares.

IDRC is a Crown corporation that reports to Parliament
through the Minister of Foreign Affairs. It fulfills its public
policy role primarily by funding applied research in the
areas of environment and natural resource management;
information and communication technologies; innovation,
policy and science; and social and economic policy. It also
provides advice and training, and creates opportunities for
the scientific, academic, development, and policy commu-
nities in Canada and developing countries to share results
and experiences.

Essential to all development efforts, the skilled researchers,
strong institutions, and better informed policymakers that
result are the foundation that ensures that Canada’s
development assistance delivers the maximum impact.

Promoting prosperity, democracy, and security

IDRC contributes to meeting Canada’s foreign policy
priorities. For example:

� In Afghanistan, the Hindu Kush–Himalayan University
Consortium — an alliance of 15 universities supported
by IDRC — is offering local researchers and faculty
members graduate-level training and valuable interna-
tional contacts in such fields as natural resource man-
agement and rural sociology. The goal: to rebuild
Afghanistan’s research community and institutions.
Other researchers are working with IDRC support to
strengthen democracy and human rights, ensure food
security, and find sustainable alternatives to opium
poppy cultivation.

� In Haiti, IDRC supports a network of several Latin
American institutions that are tracking the reconstruc-
tion effort and identifying ways of making their peace-
building and reconstruction contributions more
effective. It also supports a new program administered
by the Canadian International Immunization Initiative
for Haiti to fund research by Canadian and Haitian
researchers on the best ways of expanding vaccination
against preventable diseases.

� This year marked the 20th anniversary of IDRC support
for the research program of the Intergovernmental
Group of Twenty-Four on International Monetary
Affairs and Development (G-24). The program has
provided G-24 members with sophisticated data and
analyses that once were available only to richer nations.
This expertise has helped countries such as Ethiopia,
Trinidad and Tobago, and the Philippines strengthen
their hand in high-level monetary negotiations and
better integrate into the global economy.

� In 2008, IDRC chaired the Visioning and Development
Challenges Working Group of the Consultative Group
on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)’s
Change Management Initiative. Canada is a founding
member of the CGIAR and remains a strong supporter
of its 15 research centres.

Supporting Canadian priorities
An innovative member of the international community

R E S P O N S I B L E M A N A G E M E N T A N D L E A D E R S H I P
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Supporting innovation

IDRC is at the forefront of Canada’s efforts to increase
developing countries’ scientific and technological capabili-
ties. In doing so it brings Canadian expertise to bear on
global problems and it provides an international dimension
to Canadian science and technology. The launch this year of
the International Research Chairs Initiative, a collaboration
between IDRC and the Canada Research Chairs
Program, is an excellent example of this mutual benefit.

Joining forces for greater impact

IDRC collaborates with many federal government agencies.
For example, working with Industry Canada, IDRC was a
member of the official Canadian delegation at the G8
science ministerial held in Japan in June 2008.

The Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA)
has long been IDRC’s most important Canadian partner:
both agencies are currently co-funding 35 research activities.
A notable example is the Global Health Research Initiative
(GHRI). This partnership between IDRC, CIDA, the

Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Health Canada,
and the Public Health Agency of Canada — which joined
the partnership in 2008–2009 — strengthens Canada’s role
on the global health research scene and builds health
research capacity in developing countries and in Canada.

In addition, IDRC administered the Expert Advisory and
Services Fund for the Middle East Peace Process, funded
by CIDA from 1992 to 2008. It administers the Middle East
Good Governance Fund, initiated by the CIDA Iraq Task
Force in 2004, and continues to manage the multi-donor
Scholarship Fund for Palestinian Refugee Women in
Lebanon, supported by both the Department of Foreign
Affairs and International Trade and CIDA.

Reporting to Canadians

IDRC is committed to sharing with Canadians the value
and the benefits of the research it supports. During 2008–
2009, we reached millions of Canadians through a variety
of activities. Here are some examples:

� Around the country, our representatives took part in
large conferences where they engaged with Canadians
on development issues. For example, at the 14th annual
International Economic Forum of the Americas — the
Conférence de Montréal — held in June 2008, IDRC
hosted an expert panel discussion on “Coping with
Climate Change: How the Vulnerable Must Adapt.”

� IDRC’s partnership with the Canada Research Chairs
Program forged new links with the research community
and other influential Canadians. Newspaper advertise-
ments announcing the launch of the International
Research Chairs Initiative reached an estimated audience
of more than one million Canadians.

� Canadian universities were targeted through outreach
efforts on campus. Our staff and research associates
visited 33 Canadian institutions. In November, for
instance, IDRC hosted a session at the University of
British Columbia to mark the 35th anniversary of diplo-
matic relations between Mongolia and Canada.

On February 25, Minister of State (Science and Technology)

Gary Goodyear (left) announced eight new research partner-

ships as part of the International Research Chairs Initiative.

At right, Jianhong Wu, Canada Research Chair in Industrial

and Applied Mathematics, York University.

”IDRC FOCUSES ON CREATING KNOWLEDGE... AS THE GOVERNMENT’S

FOREMOST AGENCY IN FUNDING RESEARCH FOR DEVELOPMENT,

IDRC IS A KEY PLAYER ON CANADA’S FOREIGN POLICY TEAM.”
— THE HONOURABLE GARY GOODYEAR, MINISTER OF STATE (SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY)
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� At our Ottawa office, we organized frequent informal
“brown bag” presentations featuring our research
partners and invited interested parties from the aca-
demic community, non-governmental organizations,
and government bodies such as CIDA.

� Also in Ottawa, we hosted nine speakers in our India
Lectures series. The popular series, which attracted
diplomats, academics, government officials, journalists,
and students, showcases the wealth of eminent thinkers
and stimulating ideas emanating from this rising global
power. This program celebrates the 25th anniversary of
our office in New Delhi, and the enduring and valued
collaboration with our Indian research partners.

� We also welcomed other distinguished speakers. In
February 2009, for instance, IDRC hosted diplomat
Mokhtar Lamani, former ambassador to Iraq for the
League of Arab States. Since 2007 he had been a
Senior Visiting Fellow at the Centre for International
Governance Innovation (CIGI) in Waterloo, Ontario,
where IDRC contributed funds toward the first year
of his fellowship.

� In October and November, at Library and Archives
Canada in Ottawa, we launched a stirring exhibit of
60 images by Italian photographer Mauro Fermariello.

These pictures trace the growth of St Mary’s Hospital
Lacor in northern Uganda. The hospital — now a major
medical centre — was established in the 1960s by Lucille
Teasdale and Piero Corti. IDRC supports the foundation
bearing their name. An estimated 2500 people viewed
the exhibit.

� IDRC collaborated with CIDA to organize a panel
discussion during CIDA’s International Cooperation
Days in November. The theme was “New Frontiers of
Communication: How to Bring the Development Story
to Canadians.”

� Global media coverage of IDRC’s work increased 10%
over the year. As of March 31, 2009, IDRC-related
projects, staff, and associates had appeared in 1071 news
reports reaching an estimated 46.5 million people
around the world.

� Our monthly electronic bulletin, an active publishing
program, a two-disc CD-ROM that includes a wide
selection of material, and our website also allow us to
share research results with Canadians.

IDRC’s year-long India Lectures series welcomed leading

Indian sinologist Alka Acharya in October 2008.

In Ottawa and beyond, IDRC public events attract wide

audiences, including diplomats, academics, government

officials, journalists, and students.
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Collaborative governance

IDRC is committed to incorporating developing-country
perspectives into its governance and management. It does
so through an international Board of Governors, a Senior
Management Committee composed of Canadian and inter-
national staff, and six regional offices in Africa, Asia, Latin
America, and the Middle East.

This governance structure is one of the factors that allow
IDRC and Canada to make a unique contribution in foster-
ing scientific and technological excellence for development
in developing countries.

The Board of Governors oversees the Centre’s affairs and
works with management to set strategic directions and to
ensure that objectives are achieved. The Chairman of the
Board reports to the Parliament of Canada through the
Minister of Foreign Affairs. The Board has four standing
committees to assist it in carrying out its responsibilities.

The Board met three times in Ottawa in 2008–2009: it held
its regular meetings in June and October 2008 and in March
2009. The Board also engaged in a two-day retreat in March
to debate questions related to the 2010–2015 corporate strate-
gic plan, which management will submit to the Board later in
2009. The Board approved the current Corporate Strategy and
Program Framework 2005–2010 in November 2004.

As Chief Executive Officer and an ex officio member of the
Board, the President manages and directs the work and staff
of the Centre, with the support of the Senior Management
Committee (see page 53).

Accountability and transparency

IDRC is accountable for its use of public resources and has
many mechanisms in place to help it operate in a highly
accountable manner. In fact, IDRC meets or exceeds the
standards set by Treasury Board for transparency and
accountability in corporate governance.

Examples of IDRC’s accountability measures include:
� The Board of Governors’ Finance and Audit Committee,

which normally meets four times a year, provides finan-
cial oversight to the Centre’s operations.

� IDRC has a rigorous system of internal audits and exter-
nal audits. IDRC’s financial statements are audited annu-
ally by the Office of the Auditor General (OAG). For each
of the 39 years of IDRC’s existence, the OAG has issued
an unqualified opinion on IDRC’s financial statements.

� Special Examinations are carried out by the OAG at
regular intervals. The last, carried out in 2007–2008 at
IDRC’s request, did not find any significant deficien-
cies in the systems and practices examined. The report
notes that in several areas, notably research project
funding management and human resources, IDRC’s
management systems have contributed to IDRC’s
success. The report is available on our website.

� IDRC presented its annual report to Parliament through
the Minister of Foreign Affairs in July 2008. The report
is available on our website.

� IDRC is subject to both the Access to Information Act
and the Privacy Act: three requests were received under
the Access to Information Act in 2008–2009. None were
received under the Privacy Act.

� IDRC publishes travel and hospitality expenses for
senior executives on its website, in keeping with the
federal government policy on disclosure of these costs.

� IDRC submitted reports on its application of the
Canadian Multiculturalism Act, the Employment Equity
Act, and the Official Languages Act (OLA). Because
IDRC was identified as having exemplary performance
regarding the OLA, it was exempt from submitting the
narrative report for 2008–2009.

� IDRC submitted its annual report on the Public Servants
Disclosure Protection Act to the then Canada Public
Service Agency.

� Under the Financial Administration Act, IDRC is
required to conduct internal audits of its records, con-
trols, systems, and practices to ensure that resources are
managed economically and efficiently and that opera-
tions are carried out effectively. In 2008–2009, IDRC
conducted five internal audits. Four internal audits were
completed and approved by the Board’s Finance and
Audit Committee.

Managing for success
A commitment to openness, transparency, and accountability

R E S P O N S I B L E M A N A G E M E N T A N D L E A D E R S H I P
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Effective administration

Stewardship under the President and three Vice-Presidents
— responsible for Corporate Strategy and Regional
Management, Programs, and Resources, respectively —
ensures IDRC’s programmatic relevance, and effective
resource management and accountability. The position of
Vice-President Corporate Strategy and Regional Manage-
ment was created in 2008–2009 to fulfill three functions:
provide leadership in IDRC’s performance management
and public accountability functions; communicate IDRC’s
value and accomplishments; and provide leadership and
guidance to IDRC’s regional directors.

IDRC conducts its operations according to sound man-
agement practices with due regard to both efficiency and
effectiveness. Despite the challenges associated with fore-
casting annual expenditures associated with hundreds of
multi-year projects conducted in many countries of the
developing world, IDRC’s real-time systems and perform-
ance tracking at head office and in our six regional offices
have enabled us to achieve a variance of less than 1%
between our budget and our program expenditures of
approximately $140-million.

Information technology (IT) projects are planned care-
fully and monitored to promote on-time delivery within
scope and budget. During 2008–2009, IDRC devoted
approximately 85% of our IT budget to run and maintain
existing systems, but we were careful to devote 15% to
improve our systems and to respond to new business
needs. We also manage our travel through a central sup-
plier and preferred airline agreements so that travellers are
made aware of potential safety concerns in various coun-
tries and to ensure airfares are discounted.

During 2008–2009, IDRC also instituted a new process for
handling international wire payments to increase the effi-
ciency of transactions with our many grant recipients
around the world. We also automated the handling of
donor funding to facilitate the allocation of donor funds to
projects and our reporting to donors. Improvements were
also made to the Centre’s purchase requisition system.

Treasury Board’s strategic review of IDRC, completed in
2007–2008, recognized IDRC’s management style as
“exemplary.”

Sound performance management

IDRC’s performance management system includes strategic
planning, integrated risk management, internal audit, and
evaluation. Performance indicators are being used for the
Centre’s five resource management sectors — finance and
administration, grant administration, human resources,
information technology, and information management.
Annual performance reports have been produced for each
of these five sectors during the last four years.

As noted in the OAG’s 2008 Special Examination, “Overall
we found that IDRC has a good structure and processes in
place to measure its performance. The Centre has devel-
oped an elaborate set of mechanisms over the years to
gather and assess the result of its activities. We also noted
that IDRC is continually seeking ways to improve the
measurement of its programs’ outcomes and impacts.”

The Special Examination Report provided direction for
IDRC to improve its external reporting to better show to
stakeholders and Parliament the extent to which the Centre
is meeting its objectives, managing its resources efficiently,
and managing its key risks. IDRC is committed to improv-
ing its external reporting and is acting to do so.

Strategic planning

IDRC’s Corporate Strategy and Program Framework 2005–
2010 (CS+PF) is the Centre’s strategic plan. It describes how
the Centre intends to implement the IDRC Act within that
five-year period.

The plan, based on a careful assessment of the international
and domestic contexts for the Centre’s work, continues to
guide IDRC’s activities. Planning for the IDRC Strategic
Plan 2010–2015 began this year with the preparation of
three background papers on the development and donor
environments and on IDRC’s business model. Consultations
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with researchers and development practitioners were held
in four developing regions to inform IDRC’s discussions.
The Board of Governors held a retreat in March 2009 to
provide direction to management on these issues.

In the coming year further consultations will be held
with IDRC’s partners in the Canadian foreign policy and
research communities, with grant recipients and other
donors, and with IDRC staff.

Informed risk management
and internal audit

Proactive risk management
The Centre operates in an environment full of risks —
scientific, geographic, political, environmental, and finan-
cial. IDRC takes these risks knowingly, and relies on the
professional expertise of its staff to effectively mitigate
these risks to a manageable level. It does this by applying
high ethical and accountability standards, following sound
project management techniques, relying on on-the-
ground expertise of regionally based staff, and employing
strong financial stewardship.

Through close to 40 years of support to researchers and
institutions in the developing regions of the world, IDRC
has developed a strong, adaptive risk management
approach that allows it to capitalize on opportunities,
enhance predictability, and protect corporate assets.

Key elements of risk management include our regional
offices, the professional staff who assess the environments
in which projects will be carried out, and the sharing of
strategic intelligence with other donors and organizations
in Canada and elsewhere. Among actions taken is a risk
assessment of countries in which IDRC operates, as well as
a well-developed system to assess key recipient institutions
based on the amount of funding provided, the institution’s
capacity to administer IDRC grants, and the conditions in
the country and region. At March 31, 2009, 774 institu-
tions were working with the Centre.

IDRC is committed to implementing a continuous, proactive,
and systematic approach to risk management that is effected
by the Board, management, and staff. The integrated Risk
Management Policy and the Corporate Risk Profile outline
the key risks that have to be addressed by management.
This year, IDRC created a project risk management working
group, which is addressing questions raised in the OAG’s
2008 Special Examination.

Business continuity plans are in place and continue to be
reviewed to ensure that IDRC can operate under difficult
conditions while ensuring staff safety.

Internal audit
Internal audit provides independent assurance and advice
on the effectiveness and efficiency of IDRC’s risk manage-
ment, control, and governance processes. It objectively
examines specific areas of Centre operations approved in
the annual Internal Audit Plan of Work. These assessments
are evidence-based and examine the extent to which IDRC’s
systems and practices operate effectively to achieve objec-
tives; Centre resources are managed efficiently; and assets
are appropriately controlled and safeguarded.

Internal audit has long been a part of IDRC. In June 2006,
IDRC’s Board of Governors approved a new Internal Audit
Charter that allowed the Centre the flexibility to outsource
all or part of its internal audit function. At the end of 2007–
2008, IDRC management, with the support of the Board’s
Finance and Audit Committee, designated an internal
management position as the Centre’s Chief Audit Executive.
The actual conduct of IDRC’s internal audits are co-sourced
with external service providers.

Each year, the Senior Management Committee reviews the
Internal Audit Plan of Work, which is approved by the
Board’s Finance and Audit Committee. In 2008–2009, work
completed under the approved plan included internal audits
of the regional offices for South Asia and China (New
Delhi) and for Southeast Asia (Singapore), an audit of con-
trols over revenue, and an audit of travel health and safety.
Additionally, a risk assessment and audit strategy for
IDRC’s information technology was carried out.

tReASuRy boARd’S StRAtegiC Review of idRC, CoMpLeted

in 2007–200�, ReCognized idRC’S MAnAgeMent StyLe

AS “exeMpLARy.”
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Evaluation for greater accountability
and learning

Evaluation supports the Centre’s mandate and under-
pins its reputation for excellence. It enhances the rele-
vance, effectiveness, and efficiency of both research and
corporate processes by managing external reviews of
programs. It builds evaluative thinking and learning
into IDRC’s work and conducts strategic evaluations on
topics that cross-cut many Centre activities. It also
builds the field of evaluation for research, particularly
in developing countries.

Evaluation at IDRC is decentralized and user-focused.
It also seeks to balance learning and accountability.

A decentralized approach
By embedding evaluation expertise and activities
throughout IDRC and its programs, the Centre ensures
that results are relevant and can be used for both
accountability and learning. At the program level, for
instance, the Global Health Research Initiative this year
created a senior position for monitoring and evaluation,
thereby introducing a new approach to managing evalua-
tion at the Centre. At the project level, nine community-
based natural resource management projects in Asia have
joined forces with IDRC to develop and test methods for
evaluating how best to develop the capacities of organiza-
tions to use evaluations most effectively.

In 2008–2009, the Evaluation Unit received 36 evaluation
reports: 23 were project and program level evaluations;
13 were external reviews of IDRC programs or strategic
evaluations.

Focus on the users
Involving users in key phases of the evaluation process is
a hallmark of IDRC evaluations. This user-orientation
ensures that the evaluation is tailored to the needs of the
users and increases chances that evaluation results will be
used. At the project level, use-oriented findings can help
improve the way projects are implemented and broaden
their scope. For instance, an evaluation of the Kenya-
based African Highlands Initiative helped the natural
resource management project, supported by IDRC since
1995, scale up from the local to the national level. At the
corporate level, internal reviews can improve processes
and accountability. A Centre-wide review of competitive
grants — a mechanism increasingly used by IDRC pro-
grams to fund research — led to new guidelines for staff.

Balancing learning and accountability
The Evaluation Unit addresses IDRC’s priorities through
research, development, and the promotion of processes
that balance learning with accountability. This is
achieved by developing and using a range of tools and
approaches. Outcome Mapping — pioneered by IDRC —
is a case in point. IDRC is now collaborating with indi-
viduals and organizations around the world studying
new trends in evaluation that can aid or hinder develop-
ment. IDRC has also partnered with One World Trust,
a UK-based research group, to improve organizations’
transparency and accountability.
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An ethical organization

IDRC adheres to the highest ethical standards. For example,
all IDRC grants require that the recipient adhere to
internationally recognized ethical standards: grant recipi-
ents must report on their compliance with standards to
protect the dignity and privacy of individuals, participants’
health, and their living conditions.

IDRC supports the objectives of the 1992 Convention on
Biological Diversity, in particular that of promoting the fair
and equitable sharing of the benefits arising from the use
of genetic resources.

Ethics in the workplace
IDRC’s Code of Conduct — adopted in 2006–2007— fosters
a work environment that is supportive and encourages
creativity, innovation, competence, and teamwork, as well
as fair and equitable management. Employees report on
their achievements in promoting and adhering to the Code
of Conduct as part of their annual performance appraisal.

The Code of Conduct meets the requirements of the Public
Servants Disclosure Protection Act. IDRC’s policy on
harassment and discrimination in the workplace imple-
ments the principles of the Canadian Human Rights Act.

Environmental stewardship

IDRC aims to be a green organization. Our environmental
commitments are met most clearly through the activities
of the Environment and Natural Resource Management
program area, which supports grassroots action and policy
research that offer viable alternatives to or improve on cur-
rent practices and institutions. We also consider environ-
mental impacts when evaluating all potential projects.

In 2008–2009, IDRC offset its carbon footprint with the
purchase of 10 000 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
credits associated with wind energy projects in India.

Other environmental actions in 2008–2009 included
� a recycling program at the Ottawa head office where

paper, water, and energy conservation are promoted

� energy, water, and resource conservation measures in
all IDRC regional offices

� the use of recyclable, recycled paper or paper from
responsibly managed forests in IDRC publications

� the promotion of the use of public transit: in its Ottawa
office, the Centre participates in OC Transpo’s ECOpass
program. A secure bicycle storage area is available to
staff who cycle to work.

Good corporate citizenship

IDRC employees again demonstrated their generosity by
contributing $49 975 to the 2008–2009 Government of
Canada Workplace Charitable Campaign — 116% of the
Centre’s objective. The campaign supports a number of
local charities.

Two IDRC Dragon Boat teams raced in the 2008 Ottawa
Dragon Boat Festival, raising $4675 for local charities.

Staff also contributed to the Snowsuit Fund, as well as to
the Ottawa Food Bank

Human resources management:
Supporting staff excellence

IDRC’s highly qualified and diverse workforce is key to
our success. The varied perspectives brought by staff with
different cultural backgrounds enriches the Centre’s
approaches, enables us to better understand issues affecting
local populations around the world, and helps us make
more effective policy and program decisions. A survey last
year showed that staff in Ottawa and the regional offices
used 27 languages at work, enabling IDRC to provide sup-
port to research partners around the world.

In the last year, IDRC continued its efforts to ensure a
representative workforce and a welcoming organizational
culture of respect, trust, and competence. For example,

� we introduced a number of policies and guidelines,
including on official languages and on the management
of people with disabilities
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IDRC STAFF: fuLL-tiMe equivALentS

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008
Budget Revised budget Revised budget

Head office 299 29� 27�

Ottawa-hired
regional employees �� �2 ��

Locally engaged
staff in regional �09 �0� �02
offices

Subtotal 453 439 423

Externally funded
project staff 7 �0 �7

Total 500 489 470

� policies were developed on pre-retirement leave and
leave with income averaging

� alternative language learning programs were introduced
for staff who frequently travel

� several initiatives were launched to improve staff well-
ness and a new program was implemented

� during the lengthy public transportation strike in
Ottawa last winter, flexible work arrangements were
encouraged

� the annual Performance Review and Appraisal System
was simplified.

Given the challenges associated with having a workforce
that travels extensively in some of the more difficult regions
of the world, the health and safety of staff are of particular
importance. IDRC has a travel health unit, as well as a
Security and Emergency Planning Team and a Travel
Advisory Committee that monitors potential and ongoing
concerns. Up-to-date travel advice is provided on the
Intranet and a 24-hour emergency telephone number is
available to all staff. An internal audit carried out in
2008–2009 found that IDRC had an effective governance
and management control framework for managing traveller
health and safety.

Through its travel management services contractor, IDRC
has access to a database that shows the itineraries of all
staff and IDRC-sponsored travellers. This allows us to
easily identify who may be headed toward travel “hot
spots,” allowing management to react quickly to ensure
the safety of travellers.

IDRC’s salary and benefits package is adjusted annually.
Comprehensive reviews are undertaken every three years:
a review for Ottawa-hired staff salaries was carried out in
2008–2009, as well as a review of benefits specific to
Ottawa-hired staff working overseas.

Employee satisfaction is gauged through regular consul-
tation with the Staff Association and annual meetings
with staff.

An all-staff Quick Pulse Survey carried out in 2008–2009 to
seek employee perceptions of various aspects of the IDRC
work experience obtained a response rate of 82%. Overall
findings were positive, with 96% of staff indicating that
they are proud to say they work for the Centre. We are
following up on areas where improvements can be made.
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The Board of Governors

IDRC’s work is guided by a 21-member international Board
of Governors; the Chairman of the Board reports to Parlia-
ment through the Minister of Foreign Affairs. The IDRC
Act stipulates that a majority of members, including the
Chair and Vice-Chair, must be Canadian. Up to 10 Gover-
nors are appointed from other countries. The composition
of its Board helps to ensure that the Centre’s programs and
operations effectively respond to the needs of the develop-
ing world, adhere to good governance practices, and
uphold the public interest in its undertakings.

Board Stewardship

IDRC’s Board is committed to openness, transparency, and
accountability in discharging its responsibilities. Its key
responsibilities are to

� establish IDRC’s strategic direction
� review and approve the Centre’s budget and financial

statements
� assess and ensure systems are in place to manage risks

associated with the Centre’s business
� ensure the integrity of the corporation’s internal control

and management information systems
� monitor corporate performance against strategic and

business plans
� assess its own performance in fulfilling Board respons-

ibilities
� measure and monitor the performance of the President/

Chief Executive Officer
� ensure that the Centre has an effective communications

strategy.

The Board ensures that the Centre adheres to the IDRC Act
and its mandate to initiate, encourage, support, and con-
duct research into the problems of the developing regions
of the world.

Strategic direction
The IDRC Act defines the Centre’s mandate.

This year marked the fourth year of operations under
the Corporate Strategy and Program Framework 2005–2010
(CS+PF), and of its companion document, the Operational
Framework.

Oversight and assurance
IDRC’s Finance and Audit Committee helps the Board
fulfill its oversight responsibilities. The Committee works
closely with the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Audit
Executive, and the Office of the Auditor General (OAG). Its
responsibilities include ensuring that the principal risks of
the Centre’s business have been identified, that they are
properly managed, and that assets are well protected. A
corporate risk profile prepared by IDRC’s Risk Manage-
ment and Internal Audit Unit assists them in this task.

Effective reporting
Annually, the Board of Governors receives a report on the
status of IDRC programs and activities in relation to the
overall Corporate Strategy and Program Framework. In March,
the planned Program of Work and Budget for the coming
year is presented to the Board for review and approval.

At its meeting in June, the Board receives an account of the
past year’s activities from the Evaluation Unit and the
Communications Division. The report on the annual finan-
cial audit, conducted by the OAG, and the year’s audited
financial statements are presented at this time.

Audit regime
The annual audit regime includes both internal and exter-
nal audits. The Office of the Auditor General performs all
external audits, including the annual attest audit of the
Centre’s financial statements and periodic Special Examina-
tions. Internal audits are reported to the Finance and Audit
Committee at its regular meetings. The status of internal
audits in relation to the Internal Audit Plan of Work is
reported to the Board twice a year.

Advancing the development research agenda
A colloborative and visionary approach

S O U N D C O R P O R A T E G O V E R N A N C E
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Communications
IDRC’s annual report is an important vehicle for communi-
cating with Parliament, the Canadian government, and
Canadians. IDRC consults closely with the Canadian for-
eign policy family — the Department of Foreign Affairs and
International Trade, the Canadian International Develop-
ment Agency, and the Privy Council Office, among others
— as well as with Canadian scientific and research commu-
nities on key issues.

IDRC also presents research results to Canadians through
its website, corporate publications, activities, and events
across Canada.

Working with Management

Board and management relations
Board and management relations are characterized by a
spirit of openness and transparency and a common belief
in the principle of accountability and good public gover-
nance practices, to achieve the highest level of organiza-
tional performance.

The Board measures and monitors the performance of the
President. The Board annually discusses with the President
its evaluation of his performance. The President’s objectives
and performance measures are developed at the outset of
each year in consultation with the Board.

Succession planning
IDRC’s approach to succession planning focuses, in part,
on developing staff of high potential to ensure that the
next generation of leaders is in place to support the
Centre’s commitment to excellence. Annually, the Presi-
dent and Vice-Presidents review senior staff to ensure
continuing organizational fit and that future organiza-
tional needs will be met. The President briefs the Board
on the demographic picture and the succession planning
strategies to be undertaken.

Board independence
The Board has established processes that allow it to func-
tion independently of management. The roles of the Chair-
man and the President, who is the CEO, are separate: the
Chairman manages the affairs of the Board; the President is
responsible for the daily operations of the Centre. All Board
members are appointed by the Governor in Council.

The Board normally meets three times a year. Every session
includes an in-camera discussion and reports from Board
committees. The Board has four standing committees: the
Executive Committee, the Finance and Audit Committee,
the Governance Committee, and the Human Resources
Committee. Committee members are elected on the basis of
their interests, expertise, and availability. The Board also
establishes ad hoc committees to deal with particular issues
as the need arises.

The Board has conflict of interest guidelines to maintain the
highest standard of integrity for its members.

Executive Committee (as of March 31, 2009)
Members: The Honourable Barbara McDougall (Chair);
Denis Desautels; Ged Davis; Andy Knight; David Malone;
Faith Mitchell; Francisco Sagasti.

Finance and Audit Committee (as of March 31, 2009)
Members: Denis Desautels (Chair); Ahmed Galal;
Frieda Granot; Andrés Rozental.

Governance Committee (as of March 31, 2009)
Members: The Honourable Barbara McDougall (Chair);
Jocelyn Coulon; Denis Desautels; David Malone;
Faith Mitchell; Xue Lan.

Human Resources Committee (as of March 31, 2009)
Members: Faith Mitchell (Chair); Amina J. Ibrahim;
Claude-Yves Charron; Andy Knight; Pratap Mehta.

the boARd enSuReS thAt the CentRe AdheReS to the IDRC ACT And itS

MAndAte to initiAte, enCouRAge, SuppoRt, And ConduCt ReSeARCh

into the pRobLeMS of the deveLoping RegionS of the woRLd.
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Functioning of the Board

Renewal of the Board
The IDRC Act specifies that at least 11 of the Governors
must have experience in international development or a
background in the natural or social sciences, or technology.
These stipulations are reflected in a profile of skills and
experience developed by the Board to assist in identifying
suitable candidates to fill Board vacancies.

Board members are appointed for a term of four years and
may be appointed for a further term. In 2008–2009, two
Governors were appointed to the Board.

Orientation
New Board members participate in an orientation program
and receive extensive background material on the Centre and
its operations. All Board members are encouraged to make
at least one trip during their term to visit IDRC projects, to
consult with partners, and see first-hand how IDRC works
and the impact of the research it supports. This year, a field
trip was organized to India and Sri Lanka in January 2009.

Compensation
Compensation for Board members is set according to
Government of Canada Remuneration Guidelines for
Part-time Governor in Council Appointees in Crown Corpor-
ations. These guidelines establish the following ranges:

� Per diem for Governors: $390 – $420
� Annual retainer for Committee Chairs: $4 600 – $5 400
� Annual retainer for the Chairman: $9 200 – $10 800

Responsibility for corporate governance
The Board of Governors is responsible for the overall
approach to governance issues in the Centre. Looking to
its own governance practices and performance, the Board,
under the leadership and direction of the Chairman,
conducts a self-assessment exercise every year.

Committee membership and responsibilities are reviewed
annually.

In October 2008, the Board changed the name of the Nomi-
nating Committee to the Governance Committee. New
Terms of Reference, with an expanded mandate to review
issues with respect to corporate governance, were adopted.

The IDRC Board of Governors 2008–2009
THE HONOURABLE BARBARA MCDOUGALL,
Chairman, Toronto, Canada
Advisor, international business development, corporate
governance, and government relations, Aird & Berlis;
former Secretary of State for External Affairs and Minister
of Employment and Immigration

MARY COYLE, Vice-Chairman, Antigonish, Canada
(resigned May 26, 2008)
Vice President and Director, Coady International Institute,
St Francis Xavier University; former Executive Director,
Calmeadow, Toronto

DENIS DESAUTELS, Vice-Chairman, Ottawa, Canada
(elected October 21, 2008)
Executive-in-Residence, Telfer School of Management,
University of Ottawa; former Auditor General of Canada;
member of several boards of directors, including the
Laurentian Bank of Canada, Bombardier Inc., Groupe
Jean Coutu, and CARE Canada

DAVID M. MALONE, President, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada
(appointed July 1, 2008)
Former High Commissioner for Canada to India and non-
resident Ambassador to the Kingdom of Bhutan and to
Nepal; former Assistant Deputy Minister (Global Issues),
Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade;
former President, International Peace Academy (New York)

MAUREEN O’NEIL, President, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada
(term ended June 30, 2008)
Former President (interim), International Centre for
Human Rights and Democratic Development; former
President, The North–South Institute
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LALLA BEN BARKA, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia
(term ended February 16, 2009)
Deputy Executive Secretary, United Nations Economic
Commission for Africa; former Regional
Director, UNESCO Africa

CLAUDE-YVES CHARRON, Montréal, Canada
Vice-President, Université du Québec à Montréal; Secretary
General, ORBICOM (Network of UNESCO Chairs in
Communications); High-level Senior Advisor, UN Global
Alliance for Information and Communication Technologies
and Development

JOCELYN COULON, Montréal, Canada
Visiting Researcher, Centre d’études et de recherches
internationales de l’Université de Montréal (CÉRIUM)
and Director, CÉRIUM’s Réseau francophone de recherche
sur les opérations de paix; former Director, Pearson Peace-
keeping Centre, Montréal campus

ANGELA CROPPER, Trinidad and Tobago
(resigned October 16, 2008)
Assistant Secretary-General and Deputy Executive Director,
United Nations Environment Programme; Co-founder and
former President, The Cropper Foundation

GED DAVIS, Sevenoaks, United Kingdom
Co-President, Global Energy Assessment, International
Institute for Applied Systems Analysis; former Deputy
Chairman, EcoCities plc

AHMED GALAL, Cairo, Egypt
Managing Director, Economic Research Forum; former
Executive Director and Director of Research, Egyptian
Center for Economic Studies

FRIEDA GRANOT, Vancouver, Canada
(appointed April 11, 2008)
Senior Associate Dean, Strategic Development and External
Relations, and Advisory Council Chair in Management Sci-
ence at the Sauder School of Business, University of British
Columbia; former Dean, Faculty of Graduate Studies, UBC

ROBERT GREENHILL, Gatineau, Canada
(resigned June 19, 2008)
President, Canadian International Development Agency

AMINA J. IBRAHIM, Abuja, Nigeria
Senior Special Assistant to the President of Nigeria
on the Millennium Development Goals; former National
Coordinator, Education for All, Federal Ministry
of Education, Nigeria

W. ANDY KNIGHT, Edmonton, Canada
Professor, International Relations, Department of Political
Science and Coordinator/Advisor, Peace and Post-Conflict
Studies Program, University of Alberta

PRATAP MEHTA, New Delhi, India
President, Centre for Policy Research; former Professor
of Government, Harvard University

FAITH MITCHELL, Washington DC, United States
Vice-President for Program and Strategy, Grantmakers
in Health; former Senior Program Officer, Institute
of Medicine, National Academies

ANDRÉS ROZENTAL, Mexico City, Mexico
President, Mexican Council on Foreign Relations; former
Ambassador of Mexico to the United Kingdom, and Deputy
Foreign Minister

FRANCISCO SAGASTI, Lima, Peru
External Advisor, former President, FORO Nacional/
Internacional; former Director, AGENDA: Peru

LINDA SHEPPARD WHALEN, St John’s, Canada
(term ended February 16, 2009)
Editor, The Newfoundland Quarterly and President and
Chief Executive Officer, Centre for Long-term Environ-
mental Action in Newfoundland and Labrador

XUE LAN, Beijing, People’s Republic of China
Dean, School of Public Policy and Management,
Tsinghua University; former Assistant Professor,
Engineering Management and International Affairs,
George Washington University
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Board Meeting Attendance
April 1, 2008–March 31, 2009

LALLA BEN BARKA

(term ended February 16, 2009)
0 out of 2 meetings

CLAUDE-YVES CHARRON

3 out of 3 meetings

JOCELYN COULON

3 out of 3 meetings

MARY COYLE

(resigned May 26, 2008)

ANGELA CROPPER

(resigned October 16, 2008)
0 out of 1 meeting

GED DAVIS

3 out of 3 meetings

DENIS DESAUTELS

3 out of 3 meetings

AHMED GALAL

3 out of 3 meetings

FRIEDA GRANOT

(appointed April 11, 2008)
3 out of 3 meetings

ROBERT GREENHILL

(resigned June 19, 2008)

AMINA J. IBRAHIM

1 out of 3 meetings

ANDY KNIGHT

2 out of 3 meetings

DAVID MALONE

(appointed July 1, 2008)
2 out of 2 meetings

THE HONOURABLE

BARBARA MCDOUGALL

3 out of 3 meetings

PRATAP MEHTA

3 out of 3 meetings

FAITH MITCHELL

2 out of 3 meetings

MAUREEN O’NEIL

(term ended June 30, 2008)
1 out of 1 meeting

ANDRÉS ROZENTAL

2 out of 3 meetings

FRANCISCO SAGASTI

3 out of 3 meetings

LINDA SHEPPARD WHALEN

(term ended February 16, 2009)
2 out of 2 meetings

XUE LAN

2 out of 3 meetings

Senior Management Committee

IDRC’s Senior Management Committee is subject to the
President’s ultimate responsibility for supervising and
directing the work and staff of the Centre, and to the over-
all responsibility of the Board of Governors, as provided in
the IDRC Act.

The Committee’s functions are

� to assist the President in discharging his obligations to
the Board of Governors and, in doing so, to formulate
the main corporate objectives, policies, and programs

that are submitted to the Board and embodied in the
Corporate Strategy and Program Framework, the Opera-
tional Framework, the annual Program of Work and
Budget, the evaluation system, the annual report, and in
specific policy papers as may be required; and

� to develop, foster, and communicate corporate interests
and values; to anticipate events affecting the Centre;
and to promote team work, adaptability to change, and
collaboration among the different responsibility units.
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Senior Management Committee 2008–2009

MAUREEN O’NEIL

President (Chair)
(term ended June 30, 2008)

DAVID M. MALONE

President (Chair)
(appointed July 1, 2008)

FEDERICO BURONE

Regional Director, Latin America and the Caribbean

MICHAEL CLARKE

Director, Information and Communication
Technologies for Development

SYLVAIN DUFOUR

Director, Finance and Administration

NASER FARUQUI

Director, Innovation, Policy and Science
(appointed August 1, 2008)

GILLES FORGET

Regional Director, West and Central Africa
(retired August 22, 2008)

CONSTANCE FREEMAN

Regional Director, Eastern and Southern Africa

RICHARD FUCHS

Regional Director, Southeast and East Asia

BRENT HERBERT-COPLEY

Director, Social and Economic Policy

RICHARD ISNOR

Director, Innovation, Policy and Science
(resigned April 4, 2008)

JEAN LEBEL

Director, Environment and Natural Resource Management

STEPHEN MCGURK

Regional Director, South Asia and China

ROHINTON MEDHORA

Vice-President, Programs and Partnerships

LAUCHLAN T. MUNRO

Vice-President, Corporate Strategy and Regional
Management (appointed October 20, 2008);
Director, Policy and Planning (until October 20, 2008)

ANNETTE NICHOLSON

Secretary and General Counsel

LINE NOREAU

Director, Human Resources

EGLAL RACHED

Regional Director, Middle East and North Africa

CHANTAL SCHRYER

Director, Communications and Parliamentary Affairs

GERD SCHÖNWÄLDER

Director, Policy and Planning
(appointed February 19, 2009)

KATHRYN TOURÉ

Regional Director, West and Central Africa
(appointed October 2, 2008)

DENYS VERMETTE

Vice-President, Resources and Chief Financial Officer
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Summary
The International Development Research Centre (the
Centre) continues to be in a good financial position:
revenues are increasing even though Parliamentary
appropriations are forecast to level off in 2009–2010,
expenditures are under control, and liquidities are
adequate. The Centre’s administrative services costs
have declined during the last six years from about 18%
to just under 14% of total expenditures.

During 2008–2009, the Centre continued to take a
focused approach to mandate delivery: it regularly
reviewed priorities and reallocated resources as needed.
Following an expenditure reallocation exercise carried
out in parallel to Treasury Board’s 2007 strategic review,
the Centre deemed it relevant and effective to reduce
expenditures in four areas (see page 61). It also decided
to increase expenditures in four higher priority, higher
performing areas: 1) the activities of IDRC’s Innovation,
Policy and Science, and Social and Economic Policy

programs in Latin America and the Caribbean; 2) demo-
cratic governance in fragile states, particularly in Haiti
and Afghanistan; 3) democracy, openness, and trans-
parency; and 4) private sector development, notably
research on regulatory reform and financing.

Outstanding commitments funded by Parliamentary
appropriations have remained stable while outstanding
commitments funded by donor partnerships have increased
significantly during the year. This ensures a steady stream
of donor partnership revenues over the next two years.

During 2008–2009, program expenditures funded by
Parliamentary appropriations grew over the previous year
while new project allocations funded by these appropria-
tions decreased. This is due to the allocation of additional
funds that became available at the end of 2005–2006 and
2006–2007 (see Figure 7 on page 70).

The following section discusses the statement of operations,
the balance sheet, and other key financial indicators.

Management’s discussion and analysis

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008

Revised % change
($000) Budget budget Actual Variance Actual actuala

Total revenues 210 861 200 238 203 764 3 526 182 093 11.9%

Parliamentary appropriations 165 227 163 190 168 828 5 638 149 742 12.7%

Donor partnerships
Funding for development
research programs 40 137 31 469 29 675 (1 794) 26 091 13.7%

Recovery of administrative costs 4 214 3 122 2 969 (153) 2 729 8.8%

Investment income 840 1 376 1 096 (280) 2 377 -53.9%

Other income 443 1 081 1 196 115 1 154 3.6%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.

Statement of operations

TABLE 1: RevenueS
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For the purpose of this discussion, Parliamentary appro-
priations will be included with revenues, although they are
not classified as revenue on the statement of operations.
The Centre’s funding is derived from five sources: Parlia-
mentary appropriations, donor partnerships, recovery of
administrative costs, investment income, and other income.

The Centre receives different types of Parliamentary
appropriations. The Parliamentary appropriation repre-
sents the Centre’s share of Canada’s Official Development
Assistance (ODA) envelope as well as modest federal
government funding from sources other than ODA. This
year’s total Parliamentary appropriation was $5.6 million
higher than budgeted.

From time to time, the Centre receives additional one-time
Parliamentary appropriations for specific projects or pro-
grams (see Note 11 of the Notes to the Financial Statements,
page 88). These funds are recorded as deferred revenue and
recognized when the related expenses are incurred. The
revenues recognized in that manner during this year relate
to an appropriation for the Institute for Connectivity in the
Americas (ICA). The first wave of funding has now been
fully used and new funding became available, which
resulted in revenues being $2.3 million higher than bud-
geted. Administrative cost recovery has been included in

the revenue related to ICA. The Centre also received a
$4.0 million transfer late in the year, which contributed to
the higher appropriation income. A portion of the transfer
will allow the Centre to conduct research in Africa in the
areas of private sector development and health. The other
portion of the transfer will be used to create and share
knowledge to improve health and build global health
research capacity in developing countries and in Canada.

Included in the Parliamentary appropriations are transfers
from other federal agencies. These amounts are not part of
the long-term recurring funding base. Table 2 shows the
gross revenue from Parliamentary appropriations before
accounting adjustments are made (see Note 10 of the Notes
to the Financial Statements, page 88). The non-recurring
transfers are a result of the Program and Partnership
Branch’s efforts to establish collaborations with federal
agencies. In 2009–2010, Parliamentary appropriations will
include transfers from the Canadian Institutes of Health
Research ($3.45 million) and from the Canadian Inter-
national Development Agency (CIDA) ($2.0 million).
The Centre will use these appropriations to increase funding
of existing programs in the health equity and information
and communication technologies areas.

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 % change
($000) Budget Actual Actual actuala

Recurring appropriation 158 467 158 175 145 487 8.7%

Non-recurring appropriations (transfers from)
Canadian International Development Agency 2 000 8 700 6 800 27.9%
Canadian Institutes of Health Research 3 450 3 550 3 650 -2.7%
Public Health Agency of Canada — 70 — —

5 450 12 320 10 450 17.9%

Total approved appropriations 163 917 170 495 155 937 9.3%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.

TABLE 2: AppRoved pARLiAMentARy AppRopRiAtionS
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Revenues from donor partnerships (see page 56) relate
either to funding targeted to specific research projects
within existing development research programs conducted
or managed by the Centre on behalf of other organizations,
or to contributions applied to entire development research
programs. The funds received in advance are deferred and
recognized as revenue when the related expenses are
incurred. The total revenue for development research
programs funded by donor partnerships for the year was
$29.7 million, or $1.8 million lower than budgeted. The
difference is primarily due to the delayed start-up of the
Think Tank Initiative and a large project in Africa, as
staffing took longer than initially anticipated because of
the specialized expertise required to undertake the work.
However, more agreements than expected were signed
during the year, which compensates to some extent for the
lower-than-budgeted donor revenues.

e sources of donor funding have changed significantly
in recent years. In 2003–2004, close to 59.3% of donor
funding came from Canadian government organizations:
in 2008–2009, this proportion decreased to 24.8% (see
Figure 2, page 59). While the relative share of CIDA
funding has decreased, the amount of donor partnership
funding received from CIDA increased to $7.9 million in
2008–2009 (up from $5.8 million in 2003–2004). Some of
the collaboration is broader and the funding mechanisms
now include appropriation transfers that were previously
little used. In 2008–2009, the Centre received $8.7 million
in appropriation transfers from CIDA (see Table 2, page
57), in addition to donor partnership funding.

e 2009–2010 budget shows an anticipated increase of
35.2% in donor partnership funding compared to 2008–
2009 actuals. Over the past years the Centre has entered
into large financial agreements with donors to fund entire
programs. e implementation of these programs will
continue during the 2009–2010 fiscal year and new pro-
grams are expected. Of the $40.1 million in donor part-
nership funding for development research programs in

The Centre’s Parliamentary appropriations for fiscal year
2009–2010 is anticipated to be the same as in 2008–2009.
While the Canadian government has announced that the
International Assistance Envelope (IAE) would increase in
2009–2010, there remains considerable uncertainty as to
how the increase will be distributed among the depart-
ments, agencies, and Crown corporations that normally
share the IAE budget. Decisions on the distribution of any
growth within the IAE will not be made until the year is
well underway. Most of the IAE funding goes to ODA.

In past years, the Centre’s Parliamentary appropriations
have represented approximately 85% of total revenues. The
apparent reduction in 2009–2010 (see Figure 1) is due to
an anticipated increase in donor revenues rather than a
decrease in the Parliamentary appropriation. This does not
take into account a possible increase in the appropriation
for 2009–2010.

Actuals projections

2004–
2005

2005–
2006

2006–
2007

2007–
2008

2008–
2009

2009–
2010

�7% ��% ��% �2% ��% 7�%

2% 2% �% 2% �% �%

Parliamentary
appropriations

Donor
partnerships

Other

��% �2% �2% ��% ��% 2�%

FIGURE 1: ReLAtive ShAReS of inCoMe
(ACtuAL And pRojeCted) 200�–200� to 2009–20�0
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2009–2010, $37.2 million will be recognized against exist-
ing donor agreements (up from $25.6 million in 2008–
2009), and $2.9 million will be recognized against new
agreements expected to be signed during the year. e
projected increase in revenues comes from the expansion
of co–funding with the Bill & Melinda Gates and e
William and Flora Hewlett foundations.

Revenue from the recovery of administrative costs repre-
sents the amount that the Centre recovers to administer
external funds. e costs recovered do not include core
operating costs covered by the Parliamentary appropria-
tions but do include all actual costs to administer the
projects and to support project staff. e methodology to

calculate the rate of cost recovery is based on generally
accepted management accounting principles and is
reviewed at least annually. e 2008–2009 revenue was
slightly under budget ($0.2 million). Since the recovery of
administrative costs from donor partnership agreements
is proportionate to donor partnership revenues recognized,
the total variance in this area is proportional to the variance
in the revenues recognized from donor partnerships. e
budget for 2009–2010 is proportionately higher because of
an expected increase in donor partnership revenues.

Actual revenues by donor for 2003–2004 a

$15.670 million

others (�9)
22.2%, $3.5m

dgiS
�.�%, $0.7m

SdC
�.�%, $0.9m

uSAid
�.2%, $1.3m

CidA
��.7%, $5.8m

other Canadian
government (�) �.�%, $0.7m

industry Canada
�2.�%, $1.9mdfAit

�.7%, $0.9m

government of Canada

FIGURE 2: RevenueS fRoM donoR pARtneRShipS

Actual revenues by donor for 2008–2009 a, b

$32.644 million

others (��)
��.0%, $4.2m

SdC
�.�%, $1.9m

Microsoft
7.�%, $2.4m

CidA
2�.�%, $7.9m

other Canadian
government (�)

0.�%, $0.2m

bill & Melinda
gates foundation
9.�%, $3.0m

dfid
�0.0%, $13.0m

government of Canada

a includes development research programs and administrative cost recovery. b Collaboration through appropriation transfers not included (see table 2).

CidA: Canadian international development Agency; dfAit: department of foreign Affairs and international trade; dfid: department for international
development (uk); dgiS: directorate-general for international Cooperation (the netherlands); SdC: Swiss Agency for development and Cooperation; uSAid:
united States Agency for international development
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As shown in Figure 3, in 2004–2005, the recovery of
administrative costs on donor funding contracts averaged
around 9.6%. In 2008–2009, the percentage decreased to
10.0% compared to 10.5% in 2007–2008: this is because
recovery of administrative costs for a few older agree-
ments was not commensurate to expenses. In 2008–2009,
the Centre subjected its cost recovery calculation to an
external audit (essentially completed at 31 March 2009).
As a result of the calculations, the target for the standard
administrative cost recovery rate was set at 12%. is rate
applies to all partnerships except those with CIDA, with
which the Centre has a long-standing relationship: the
administrative cost recovery for agreements with CIDA
is set at 10%. e Centre has budgeted an average cost
recovery rate of 10.5% for 2009–2010 to account for some
older ongoing agreements with lower cost recovery rates,
the rate set for CIDA agreements, and some of the newer
agreements where costs are actually less than 12%.

e Centre invests its available cash in high-quality money
market instruments. In 2008–2009, the investment income
amounted to $1.1 million. e yield on investments is lower
than in recent years, but the Centre continues to outperform
its benchmark of Treasury Bill yields by a small margin
(actual return on investment was 2.95% compared to an
average Treasury Bill yield of 2.19%). Next year’s budget

shows a decrease in investment income, mainly because of
lower market yields, but also because of a decrease in the
foreseen average value of the investment portfolio.

Other income includes revenues associated with conference
and catering facilities and other miscellaneous items such as
the sale of publications and office space sub-leasing. Income
from these sources amounted to $1.2 million. e 2009–2010
other income revenues may decrease as a result of fewer
catering services being provided to external clients because of
the current economic situation and the uncertainty of receiv-
ing a municipal property tax refund ($0.5 million).

e Centre’s expenses are tracked based on a three-tier
cost structure. is structure distinguishes between develop-
ment research programs, development research support,
and administrative services costs.

e development research program (see Table 3, page
61) expenses reflect the direct costs (mainly in the form
of grants) of scientific and technical research projects
administered by the Centre as part of its ongoing pro-
grams. In 2008–2009, the share of research program
expenses funded by Parliamentary appropriations was
$109.4 million. is amount is 9.2% higher than the previous
year. e $2.3 million variance (2.2%) between actual and
budgeted expenses funded by Parliamentary appropriations
is partly due to the additional funding for the Institute for
Connectivity in the Americas (see the Revenues discus-
sion for more information), which resulted in expenditures
of $1.1 million more than budgeted. e remainder of the
variance (an overrun of $1.2 million) is the result of slight
changes in project spending patterns and to changes in
the composition of the project portfolio. e proportion
of project budgets administered by the Centre increased
to 20% in 2008–2009 from 19% in 2007–2008. More short-
term research support projects are also being approved,
increasing the disbursement ratio in the first year of the
projects’ life. Finally, as the size and number of co-funded
projects increase, delays in these projects will increasingly
affect total program expenditures (both funding lines) as
well as donor funding recoveries. Overall, the $2.3 million

FIGURE 3: ReCoveRy of AdMiniStRAtive CoStS
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variance (2.2%) in 2008–2009 is only slightly higher than
the 2% variance last year (the 2007–2008 variance was due
to underspending, however).

Fiscal year 2008–2009 was the first full year that the find-
ings of Treasury Board’s strategic review of Parliament-
funded expenditures were applied. is review coincided
with the Centre’s regular review of priorities and realloca-
tion of resources. It targeted at least $6.872 million in
recurring expenditures.

In its review, the Centre determined it would wind up
activities related to communications for development, as
well as activities related to outreach and evaluation strate-
gies. e Centre also determined it would forego geo-
graphic expansion of health and innovation programming

in the Middle East, and Central and North Africa, as well
as postpone expansion of training grants and fellowships
to mid-career professionals and scholars in developing
countries. Expenditures on development research pro-
grams and related development research support and
administrative services were targeted in the review.

In the area of communications for development, the Centre
followed up on the conclusions of its strategic review by
devolving Bellanet, a multi-donor initiative to promote
and facilitate effective collaboration within the interna-
tional development community, to an existing partner
research organization. It also moved to include in individ-
ual research projects the necessary linkages between
modes of communication and development rather than
fund a separate research program on those issues.

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008

Revised % change
($000) Budget budget Actual Variance Actual actual a

Total expenses 217 321 206 458 205 429 (1 029) 189 870 8.2%

Development research programs
Funded by Parliamentary
appropriations 106 769 107 024 109 373 2 349 100 167 9.2%

Funded by donor partnerships 40 137 31 469 29 675 (1 794) 26 091 13.7%

Development research support 42 314 38 640 38 084 (556) 35 811 6.3%

Administrative services 28 101 29 325 28 297 (1 028) 27 801 1.8%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008

Revised % change
($000) Budget budget Actual Variance Actual actuala

Total expenses 106 769 107 024 109 373 2 349 100 167 9.2%

Recurring funding 104 269 105 615 106 804 1 189 98 397 8.5%

Projects and programs funding 2 500 1 409 2 569 1 160 1 770 45.1%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.

TABLE 3: expenSeS

TABLE 3a: deveLopMent ReSeARCh pRogRAMS expenSeS funded by pARLiAMentARy AppRopRiAtionS
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In its strategic review follow-up, the Centre also entrusted
to external evaluation professionals the dissemination of
evaluation methodologies such as Outcome Mapping. e
Centre cancelled plans for a national advertising campaign
to showcase Canada’s role in the developing world through
its support for research. Other, more cost-effective means
were used to reach out to Canadians, such as public lec-
tures and refinements to the IDRC website. e Centre
did not increase the amount of Parliamentary appropria-
tions expended on health and innovation in the Middle
East, Central Africa, and North Africa, nor did it expand
its training grants and fellowships to non-Canadians.

e strategic review also considered how to reinvest the
targeted $6.872 million into four existing areas of pro-
gramming. Treasury Board decided positively on the
strategic reinvestment proposed by the IDRC Board of
Governors: the Centre was able to expand activities in
four areas identified in the strategic review.

e following projects are examples of several supported
in each strategic reinvestment area:
� In Latin America and the Caribbean, a project examin-

ing Haiti’s challenges in the area of state-building and
democratization supports research institutions in
Argentina, Brazil, Chile, and Mexico to study Haiti’s
social, economic, and political problems and promote
training, collaboration, and debate on state-building in
Haiti. Several other projects in Latin America and the
Caribbean explore issues as diverse as scaling up rural
innovations in Peru, increasing capacity in environ-
mental economics, promoting the joint management of
transboundary watersheds, and improving the delivery
of health care in the region.

� e Centre is supporting innovative work in the area
of democratic governance in fragile states. A project
with the Arab Reform Initiative, a network of research
centres from the Arab world, Europe, and North

America, is mobilizing Arab research capacity to
develop a realistic and organic program to provide policy
recommendations that will advance reform in the Arab
world. Other projects are examining, in different
regions, the relationship between funding research and
improving participatory processes, building new insti-
tutions, and strengthening civil society.

� In the area of democracy, openness, and transparency,
one project is examining how the rising phenomenon
of Middle Eastern religious broadcast media is related
to the rise of religiosity in local and regional public
attitudes, and the political, social, and cultural values
promoted throughout this process. Other projects are
examining democratic processes in the Middle East
and where Islamic movements — through their political
and social structures — stand on key issues like the
rule of law, gender equality, and democratic governance.

� Activities supporting private sector development
include a project to build the capacity of the African
private sector development research community to
contribute to a business-enabling environment for
sustainable enterprise in Africa. It is doing so through
competitive grants and training workshops, and by
forging partnerships between business schools. Other
projects are exploring the integration of young African
researchers into research and innovation systems, and
ways to improve the business environment in West
Bank and Gaza.

Development research program expenditures for all Centre
development research programs, including the net impact
of the strategic reductions and reinvestments, are reflected
in Table 4, page 63. Expenditures have increased by $12.8
million over the previous year. Just over 70% of the increase
($9.2 million) pertains to expenditures funded by Parlia-
mentary appropriations. e balance ($3.6 million) relates
to donor partnerships expenditures.
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TABLE 4: expendituReS by pRogRAMS

2009 2008

Funded by Funded
Parliamentary by donor

Program area appropriations partnerships Total Total

Environment and Natural Resource Management 27 289 9 238 36 527 36 997
Climate Change Adaptation in Africa 2 �07 7 029 9 ��� 9 22�
ecosystem Approaches to human health 7 2�� �9� � ��� � ���
environmental economics � ��� �2� � 97� � �7�
Rural poverty and environment �� �07 �90 �2 097 �� �70
urban poverty and environment � 7�9 — � 7�9 � 09�

Information and Communication Technologies
for Development 24 830 11 102 35 932 29 129

Acacia / Connectivity Africa 9 779 � �02 �� 0�� �� ���
Connectivity and equity in the Americas � 90� �70 � �7� � 9��
pan Asia networking 7 70� 2 ��� �0 ��� � 9�9
telecentre.org � ��9 � �97 � ��� � 009

Innovation, Policy and Science 4 335 — 4 335 4 298
innovation, technology and Society � �7� — � �7� � 7��
Research partnerships Challenge fund ��9 — ��9 ���

Social and Economic Policy 32 385 7 514 39 899 33 628
globalization, growth and poverty �0 �22 �7� �0 997 �� �0�
peace, Conflict and development � �2� �� � ��9 � ��9
Research for health equity �2 �2� � ��� �9 0�� �2 ���
think tank initiative 2�� �� �0� —
women's Rights and Citizenship � 77� 72 � ��� � 7��

Evaluation 2 616 124 2 740 1 622

Partnership and Business Development 635 1 636 721

Programming Flexibility & Rapid Response Funds 7 978 116 8 094 8 928

Special Initiatives 9 305 1 580 10 885 10 935

Total 109 373 29 675 139 048 126 258
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As shown in Figure 4, the proportion of the Centre’s develop-
ment research program expenses used as counterpart
(co-funding) to donor partnership funding increased
slightly in the past year. While this represented 15.4% in
2007–2008, it stands at 17.0% in 2008–2009. As the level of
donor partnership activity increases, the level of develop-
ment research program expenses related to projects
financed solely by the Centre decreased (61.7% in 2008–
2009 compared to 63.9% the year before).

Development research program expenses will increase by
$7.9 million in 2009–2010 compared to 2008–2009 actuals.
The increase reflects planned expenditures on large donor-
funded programs (such as the Think Tank Initiative) that
have moved past their start-up phase.

The share of development research program expenses
funded by donor partnerships totalled $29.7 million, or
$1.8 million lower than budgeted. The Revenues discussion
on page 57 provides an explanation for this variance.

It is noteworthy that expenditures for earlier outstanding
commitments (i.e., expenditures on “old” projects) funded
by Parliamentary appropriations in 2009–2010 will reach
an all-time high of about $78 million (see Figure 5). This
amount represents nearly 75% of the funding available for
development research programs in 2009–2010. The expen-
diture growth from previous years is still reflected in
ongoing projects, but the levelling of the Parliamentary
appropriation leaves proportionately fewer resources to
fund new projects (i.e., allocations). In more concrete
terms, the funding available for new projects will drop from
about $35 million in 2008–2009 to just under $26 million
in 2009–2010 (see Figure 5). This situation may change if
Parliament approves an increase to the Centre’s recurring
appropriation for 2009–2010.

FIGURE 4: CentRe And donoR funding
to deveLopMent ReSeARCh pRogRAM expenSeS

FIGURE 5: pARLiAMentARy AppRopRiAtion-funded
pRogRAM expenSeS
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Development research support represents the costs of
building research capacity in the developing regions of the
world. It breaks down into technical support, program
complements, and program management. Development
research support expenses amounted to $38.1 million in
2008–2009, or 98.6% of budget. Development research
support expenses are expected to increase by 11.1% in
2009–2010 over 2008–2009 actuals. e increase is in large
part a result of additional staff positions in support of the
ink Tank Initiative, as well as other donor-funded
projects: all these positions are needed to achieve the
objectives of the donor-funded project. e remainder of
the increase includes a modest inflation adjustment for
salaries and benefits, and a previously scheduled rent
increase. Several types of expenditures, such as travel and
professional services, have been frozen at 2008–2009 levels.

Administrative services provide a variety of policy, execu-
tive, administrative, and service functions that support the
Centre’s overall operations and corporate responsibilities.
ese expenditures amounted to $28.3 million: the vari-
ance of $1.0 million under budget is mainly due to a mid–
year reduction of professional services, to the capitalization
of salaries of staff involved in information technology
projects, and to savings in salaries and benefits attributable
to staff vacancies. e budgeted 2009–2010 administrative
services expenses are close to the 2008–2009 level.

As shown in Figure 6, administrative costs have grown at a
much lower rate than total expenditures since 2004–2005.

In fact, the share of administrative costs relative to total
expenditures went from almost 18% in 2004–2005 to less
than 13% (projected) in 2009–2010. e Centre continues to
strive to balance program spending and administrative costs.

Balance sheet discussion
e levels of cash and cash equivalents as well as invest-
ments result from the Centre receiving funds in advance
of actual spending. ese funds are invested in short-term
money market instruments. Cash equivalents represent
readily convertible investments with a maturity of three
months or less from the date of acquisition.

FIGURE 6: AdMiniStRAtive CoStS
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2008–2009 2007–2008 % change
($000) Actual Actual actuala

Total assets 89 319 83 807 6.6%

Cash and cash equivalents 39 076 22 450 74.1%
Investments 21 407 38 891 -45.0%
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 16 071 10 382 54.8%
Property and equipment 12 765 12 084 5.6%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.

TABLE 5: ASSetS
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Due to the nature of its activities, the Centre always has a
certain level of cash, cash equivalents, and investments
(which consist of surplus liquidities invested for more
than 90 days — see Note 2d of the Notes to the Financial
Statements, page 82). At 31 March 2009, the total cash,
cash equivalents, and investments were nearly the same as
at a year earlier. However, investments were much lower,
reflecting the poor shape of the Treasury investment
market. As a result, cash and cash equivalents stood at a
higher level than usual.

e cash on hand from donor partnerships is not subject to
any particular restriction, other than ultimately being used
for the purposes intended. It should be noted that, in practice,
much of the cash, cash equivalents, and investments relates
to accrued liabilities. us, these liquidities are spoken for
and cannot be used to enhance programming.

e increase of $3.9 million in donor partnership liquidities
is attributable to funds being received in advance of dis-
bursements for donor partnership activities.

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (see Table 5,
page 65) totalled $16.1 million, including $6.5 million in
Parliamentary appropriations receivable and $5.8 million
in donor partnerships receivable. is year’s total repre-
sents an increase of $5.7 million over the 31 March 2008
balance, which is mainly attributable to higher donor part-
nership receivables at year-end.

Property and equipment (Table 5, page 65) are composed
of assets with an initial cost of $5 000 or more. As at
31 March 2009, they totalled $12.8 million, up $0.7 million
from last year. e increase is mainly due to the leasehold
improvements of one floor at the Centre’s head office facili-
ties and the replacement of the telephone system in four
regional offices.

TABLE 6: CASh, CASh equivALentS, And inveStMentS

2008–2009 2007–2008 % change
($000) Actual Actual actuala

Total 60 483 61 341 -1.4%

Cash and cash equivalents 39 076 22 450 74.1%
Investments 21 407 38 891 -45.0%

Included in total:
Cash on hand from donor parnerships 35 596 31 720 12.2%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are part of the
Centre’s regular operations and represent such things as
payments to suppliers, grants payable to recipients, and
salaries and annual leave benefits owed to employees. At
the end of March 2009, the accounts payable and accrued
liabilities totalled $16.1 million, down $2.1 million from
31 March 2008. e decrease relates to the value of the
project grant payments, which were due but not yet paid.

Deferred revenue includes the unspent portion of funds
received or receivable for donor partnership activities
($35.6 million, see Table 6, page 56), the portion of the
Parliamentary appropriations used for the purchase of
property and equipment, and the unspent portion of the
Parliamentary appropriations received for specific projects
and programs (see Note 8 of the Notes to the Financial
Statements, page 86).

e year-end closing balance was $53.8 million, up
$8.9 million from 2007–2008. e increase is attributable
to the receipt of funds following the signature of large
donor partnership agreements with the Canadian
International Development Agency and with the Bill &
Melinda Gates Foundation.

Employee future benefits include a provision for employee
severance (see Note 2f of the Notes to the Financial State-
ments, page 83). At $6.0 million (which represents the
long-term portion, see Note 9c, page 88, in the Notes to the
Financial Statements), the employee future benefits remain
close to the 2007–2008 level.

e Centre’s equity is segregated between unrestricted,
restricted and reserved retained earnings, and accumulated
other comprehensive income.

e retained earnings (see Table 8, page 68) at year-end
were $4.4 million higher than budgeted. As previously
mentioned, the Centre received an additional appropria-
tion of $4.0 million from Parliament. is appropriation
was approved and received in the last quarter of the fiscal
year, which le insufficient time for the funds to be used
responsibly within the fiscal year.

The unrestricted retained earnings represent the balance not
set aside to cover either the financial planning reserve or the
restricted retained earnings.

This year, Centre management restricted a portion of the
retained earnings ($0.7 million) for the replacement of its
Web content management system (see Table 9, page 68).

TABLE 7: LiAbiLitieS

2008–2009 2007–2008 % change
($000) Actual Actual actuala

Total liabilities 75 856 68 789 10.3%

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 16 059 18 126 -11.4%

Deferred revenue 53 775 44 919 19.7%
Employee future benefits 6 022 5 744 4.8%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.
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The Centre has established a financial planning reserve in the
amount of $6.8 million (4% of its Parliamentary appropria-
tion) to protect its financial position. Having a reserve is
important for a number of reasons: the funding modality and
contractual arrangements with project recipients are evolving;
the timing of program spending is not entirely controlled by
the Centre as it depends to a large extent on the performance
of recipients; small variances in project expenditure patterns
have a significant impact on total expenditures. The Board
of Governors has approved a policy requiring a financial

planning reserve ranging from 4% to 7% of the appropriation
at the beginning of the fiscal year.

Further to a choice made pursuant to Canadian account-
ing standards (see Note 2d of the Notes to the Financial
Statements, page 82), the financial instruments classified
as available for sale are measured at fair value with unreal-
ized gains and losses recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income. This year’s comprehensive income
is $0.1 million. (Refer to the Notes to the Financial
Statements for more details.)

TABLE 9: RetAined eARningS

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008
Revised % change

($000) Budget budget Actual Variance Actual actuala

Total retained earnings 6 735 8 906 13 345 4 439 15 010 -11.1%

Unrestricted 126 452 5 892 5 440 7 950 -25.9%
Restricted — 2 000 700 (1 300) 1 070 -34.6%
Reserved 6 609 6 454 6 753 299 5 990 12.7%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.

TABLE 8: equity

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008
Revised % change

($000) Budget budget Actual Variance Actual actuala

Total equity 6 735 8 906 13 463 4 439 15 018 -10.4%

Retained earnings 6 735 8 906 13 345 4 439 15 010 -11.1%

Accumulated other comprehensive
income — — 118 n/a 8 —

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.
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As at 31 March 2009, the Centre is committed to making
payments of up to $212.9 million on research projects and
activities over the next five years. This commitment is
subject first to funds being provided by Parliament
($159.6 million) and by donor partners ($53.3 million)
and, second, with few exceptions, to recipients’ compliance
with the terms and conditions of their grant agreements.
The 2008–2009 increase in program allocations resulted
in increased outstanding commitments of $20.1 million
over 2007–2008’s $192.8 million. The shifting patterns of
funding as well as of project expenditures have resulted
in outstanding commitments funded by Parliamentary
appropriations decreasing (-1.8%) in 2008–2009 compared
to 2007–2008, while outstanding commitments funded by
donor partnerships have increased significantly (76.8%).

Management predicts that the proportion of outstanding
commitments that will be paid during 2009–2010 will
increase, leaving less funding for new project expenditures
considering the conservative revenue forecast (see Fiscal
Year 2009–2010 on page 61 and Figure 5, page 54). Any
change in these projects’ expenditure pattern will have a
significant impact on the level of program expenses.
Management will closely monitor development research
program expenses and take action should any significant
trend materialize.

Of the total $159.6 million in outstanding commitments
funded by Parliamentary appropriations, $18.2 million is
linked to projects co-financed by donor partnership
agreements.

Other key financial indicators

TABLE 10: outStAnding CoMMitMentS on deveLopMent ReSeARCh pRogRAMS

TABLE 11: pRogRAM ALLoCAtionS

2008–2009 2007–2008 % change

($000) Actual Actual actuala

Total outstanding commitments 212 930 192 761 10.5%

Funded by Parliamentary appropriations 159 577 162 579 -1.8%

Funded by donor partnerships 53 353 30 182 76.8%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.

2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008
Revised % change

($000) Budget budget Actual Variance Actual actuala

Total program allocations 153 100 166 576 190 498 23 922 183 717 3.7%

Development research programs
Funded by Parliamentary
appropriations

Recurring funding 90 000 125 427 126 108 681 145 033 -13.0%

Special projects and
programs funding 3 000 1 061 3 769 2 708 1 643 129.4%

Funded by donor partnerships 60 100 40 088 60 621 20 533 37 041 63.7%

a % change actual in 2008–2009 over 2007–2008.
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Program allocations represent the funds approved for new
research projects that will last up to five years. Disburse-
ment is progressive over project duration. The program
allocations funded by Parliamentary appropriations
reached $129.9 million in 2008–2009 ($126.1 million + $3.8
million), of which $27.9 million is linked to projects and
programs co-financed with donors (see Table 11, page 69).

The level of program allocations funded by donor part-
nerships reached $60.6 million, $20.5 million higher than
anticipated. The higher allocations are mainly explained by
two large projects that were fully allocated up front rather
than over their lifespan as originally envisaged. Most (75%)
of the $190.5 million program allocations made in 2008–
2009 were committed during the 2008–2009 fiscal year.
Expenses started for those committed projects in 2008–2009
and will continue over their individual lifespan. Taking into
account the uncertainty in the Centre’s Parliamentary
appropriation, management has determined that the 2009–
2010 program allocations funded by Parliamentary appro-
priation will be $93.0 million ($90.0 million + $3.0 million).
This amount is about 28% lower than in 2008–2009 (see
Figure 7). When co-funding pledges to projects are consid-
ered, the amount of remaining funds for programming
stands at $64.5 million or 42% of total program allocations
of $153.1 million (see Figure 8).

The allocation peak evident in Figure 7 is due to a signifi-
cant change in expenditure patterns in 2005–2006 and
2006–2007. This change, discussed in the 2007–2008 annual
report, related to an increase in project duration, gains in the
purchasing power of the Canadian dollar, growth in the
number of new projects, and other factors that contributed
to decreasing the annual expenditure ratio on older projects,
thus leaving more funding available for new projects. In
periods of allocation contraction, expenditure ratios on
older projects typically increase, starting the year after the
contraction. Centre management is aware of these patterns
and remains vigilant and prudent in committing funds.

Outlook for the future
Future accounting changes

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards
Board (AcSB) confirmed that the changeover from Canadian
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) to Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) will be
required for publicly accountable enterprises, effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2011. Although
IFRS are principles-based and use a conceptual framework
similar to Canadian GAAP, they have significant differences
and choices in accounting policies, and increased disclosure
requirements. The Centre has chosen to approach the
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IFRS TRANSITION PLAN FOR IDRC — pLAn And pRogReSS RepoRt AS of �� MARCh 2009

Project phase Milestone Status

Diagnostic

Conduct diagnostic impact assessment Report is delivered by ernst & young Completed
to evaluate the overall impact

Design and planning

Launch project, establish project governance project charter including governance Completed
structures is approved

develop training and communication plans plans are developed and approved to be completed in 2009
by project authority

Solution development

identify solutions to ifRS and evaluate Solutions are developed to be completed in 2009
and approved by project authority

develop final solutions to ifRS

Implementation

Roll out ifRS solutions financial systems, policies, and procedures to be completed by April 20�0
are able to capture and report ifRS information

test and remediate testing is completed

Post-implementation

debrief management and assess ongoing process post-20��–20�2 ongoing process post-20��–20�2
implementation

ongoing ifRS update and related
change management

conversion in five phases: diagnostic assessment; design and
planning; solutions development; implementation; and post-
implementation review. The diagnostic assessment phase was
completed during 2008–2009.

The IFRS transition plan is being finalized, including a
timetable for assessing the impact on systems, internal con-
trols over financial reporting, and business activities. A formal
project governance structure has been established to provide
advice and oversight during the various phases of the project.

The Centre continues to monitor standards development as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
and the AcSB, as well as regulatory developments as issued
by the Canadian Securities Administrators. Such develop-
ments could affect the timing, nature, and disclosure of the
adoption of the IFRS. The table above outlines the elements
of the Centre’s IFRS transition plan, along with an assess-
ment of progress toward achieving these objectives.

Fiscal Year 2009–2010

The statement of operations discussion contains detailed
explanations of significant variances between the 2009–2010
budget and 2008–2009 actuals. The Board of Governors
approved the 2009–2010 Program of Work and Budget
(PWB) in March 2009. The paragraphs below summarize
the key variances in revenues and expenses and outline the
projected 2009–2010 closing equity.

The 2009–2010 PWB was prepared based on information
known as of 31 March 2009. The Centre’s budget is revised
periodically throughout the fiscal year as new information
becomes available. In the first quarter of the fiscal year, the
development research programs budget is revised to reflect
the actual project portfolio opening balances. At the end of
the second quarter, the development research support and
administration services budgets are revised in order to
reallocate unused funds to priority areas. Finally, as the
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fiscal year-end approaches, the entire budget is again revised
in light of trends in spending patterns.

The Centre’s budget for fiscal year 2009–2010 features a
3.5% increase in revenues and a 5.8% increase in total
expenses compared to 2008–2009 actuals. The Centre’s
recurring Parliamentary appropriation for 2009–2010 is
currently forecast to be at the same level as in 2008–2009
(refer to the Revenues discussion on page 57 for an explana-
tion). This revenue increase mainly results from donor part-
nerships, more precisely from existing donor agreements.

In the Canadian federal budget of February 2008, the
government announced the creation of a Development
Innovation Fund (DIF). The Centre will likely be involved
in the DIF. However, because it is not known how the
implementation of the DIF will affect Centre operations,
revenues and expenditures related to the DIF are not
included in the 2009–2010 budget.

The 2009–2010 development research programs expendi-
tures are budgeted at $146.9 million, an increase of $7.9 mil-
lion over 2008–2009 actuals. The increase reflects planned
expenditures on existing large donor-funded programs.

The 2009–2010 expenditures for development research
support and administrative services are budgeted at
$70.4 million, $4 million more than 2008–2009 actuals. The
key factors contributing to the increase include modest infla-
tion adjustments for salaries and benefits, rent increases based
on signed lease agreements, and additional term positions
being approved for 2009–2010. These positions will allow the
Centre to meet the objectives of large donor-funded pro-
grams. Several types of expenditures are frozen at 2008–2009
levels, including travel. Professional services for development
research support and administrative services are not only
frozen but are budgeted at a lower level than in 2008–2009.

The PWB approved by the Board of Governors foresees a
closing equity of $6.7 million. This represents the financial
planning reserve that allows the Centre to protect its financial
position. As the Centre reviews its 2009–2010 budget, it may
decide to restrict a portion of its equity to finance upcoming

capital projects or to increase its financial planning reserve to
provide against future uncertainties.

Development research program allocations funded by
Parliamentary appropriations have been established at
$93.0 million, of which about $28.5 million is linked to
donor partnerships funding (see Figure 8, page 60). The
level of program allocations funded by donor partnership
agreements is expected to reach $60.1 million. The program
allocation level will be revised periodically as a result of
management’s analysis of projected expenditure patterns
within the project portfolio’s outstanding commitments.
Revisions will also be made if the Centre’s Parliamentary
appropriations increase (see Table 2 on page 57).

Fiscal Year 2010–2011

The Centre will be an active participant in whatever process is
in place to determine stakeholder shares of the International
Assistance Envelope. As such, the Centre hopes to secure a
share of any increases in this envelope in order to enable it to
do its part in achieving Canada’s international development
objectives. As well, the Centre will continue to explore new
partnership possibilities. The additional funding generated
from these two sources would allow the Centre to allocate
more resources to its development research programs.

If the Development Innovation Fund is to be housed at the
Centre starting in 2009–2010, year 2010–2011 would repre-
sent the fund’s first complete year of operation.

With outstanding commitments having peaked in 2009–2010,
management expects expenditures on old projects to be lower
in 2010–2011, which should leave room for increased expen-
ditures on new projects, resulting in higher program alloca-
tions. This is contingent on total available funding.

Development research support and administrative expenses
will be adjusted for inflation and other factors deemed nec-
essary for Centre operations. In determining the resources
allocated to administrative costs, the Centre will ensure that
a proper balance is achieved between program spending and
administrative costs.
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Five year historical review
Budget Actual

($000) 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2006–2007a 2005–2006b 2004–2005b

Income statement

Revenues
Parliamentary appropriations 165 227 168 828 149 742 144 760 131 955 122 340
Donor partnerships

Funding for development research programs 40 137 29 675 26 091 18 618 16 010 14 399
Recovery of administrative costs 4 214 2 969 2 729 1 908 1 572 1 380

Investment income 840 1 096 2 377 2 210 1 406 1 224
Other income 443 1 196 1 154 2 569 1 837 1 423

Expenses
Development research programs
Funded by Parliamentary appropriations 106 769 109 373 100 167 82 677 79 229 77 094
Funded by donor partnerships 40 137 29 675 26 091 18 618 16 010 14 399

Development research support 42 314 38 084 35 811 32 604 30 709 24 078
Administrative services 28 101 28 297 27 801 26 717 24 931 24 867

Net results from continuing operations (6 460) (1 665) (7 777) 9 449 1 901 328
Net results from discontinued operations — — — (155) (1 802) 1 957

Program allocations
Development research programs
Funded by Parliamentary appropriations 90 000 126 108 145 033 112 832 97 249 86 275
Funded by Parliamentary appropriations – 3 000 3 769 1 643 1 426 1 415 7 038
specific programs and projects

Funded by donor partnerships 60 100 60 621 37 041 27 184 14 797 14 302

Budget Actual

($000) 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2006–2007 2005–2006 2004–2005

Balance sheet

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 39 076 22 450 21 941 33 839 32 946
Investments 21 407 38 891 32 102 10 338 11 753
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 16 071 10 382 11 600 5 471 5 397
Property and equipment 12 765 12 084 6 119 5 375 7 296

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 16 059 18 126 15 890 12 842 13 044
Deferred revenue – current 35 956 30 765 21 165 16 286 18 099
Deferred revenue – long term 17 819 14 154 6 269 5 375 5 945
Employee future benefits 6 022 5 744 5 648 7 024 6 907

Equity
Retained earnings 6 735 13 345 15 010 22 790 13 496 13 397
Accumulated other comprehensive income 118 8

Outstanding commitments
Funded by Parliamentary appropriations 158 998 159 577 162 579 110 030 93 619 84 864
Funded by donor partnerships 93 361 53 353 30 182 20 690 17 288 18 382

a) Certain accounts were reclassified to conform to the financial presentation for this year.

b) The actual figures for 2005–2006 and 2004–2005 are consolidated with the assets, liabilities, and results of E-link Americas.
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Management Responsibility for Financial Statements

The financial statements presented in this annual report are the responsibility of management and have been approved by

the Board of Governors. The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian gener-

ally accepted accounting principles and, where appropriate, include amounts that have been estimated according to man-

agement’s best judgement. Financial information presented elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with the information

presented in the financial statements.

Management maintains books of accounts, information systems, and financial and management controls which are designed

to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of financial information and that the Centre’s assets are safeguarded,

that resources are managed economically and efficiently in the attainment of corporate objectives and that operations are

carried out in accordance with the International Development Research Centre Act and bylaws of the Centre.

The Centre’s Internal Auditor has the responsibility for assessing the Centre’s systems, procedures and practices. The Auditor

General of Canada conducts an independent audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally

accepted auditing standards. Her audit includes appropriate tests and procedures to enable her to express an opinion on the

financial statements. The external auditors have full access to the Finance and Audit Committee of the Board.

The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting and

internal control. The Board benefits from the assistance of its Finance and Audit Committee in overseeing and discharging its

financial management responsibility, which includes the review and approval of the financial statements. The Committee,

which is made up of governors, meets with management, the internal auditors and the external auditors on a regular basis.

David M. Malone Denys Vermette

President Vice-President, Resources and CFO

Ottawa, Canada
5 June 2009

Financial Statements
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Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2009
(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 39 076 22 450
Investments (Note 5) 21 407 38 891
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 14 365 8 731
Prepaid expenses 1 706 1 651

76 554 71 723

Property and equipment (Note 7) 12 765 12 084

89 319 83 807

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 16 059 18 126
Deferred revenue (Note 8) 35 956 30 765

52 015 48 891

Deferred revenue (Note 8) 17 819 14 154
Employee future benefits (Note 9) 6 022 5 744

75 856 68 789

Equity
Retained earnings 13 345 15 010
Accumulated other comprehensive income 118 8

13 463 15 018

89 319 83 807
Commitments (Note 12)
Contingencies (Note 13)

The accompanying notes and schedule form an integral part of the financial statements.

The Honourable Barbara McDougall Denis Desautels
Chairman Chairman
Board of Governors Finance and Audit Committee
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Statement of Operations
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008

Revenues
Donor partnerships (Note 10)

Funding for development research programs 29 675 26 091
Recovery of administrative costs 2 969 2 729

Investment income 1 096 2 377
Other income 1 196 1 154

34 936 32 351

Expenses
Development research programs

Funded by Parliamentary appropriations 109 373 100 167
Funded by donor partnerships 29 675 26 091

139 048 126 258
Development research support

Technical support 22 076 20 773
Program complements 9 226 8 872
Program management 6 782 6 166

38 084 35 811
Administrative services

Administration 20 972 21 378
Regional office management 7 325 6 423

28 297 27 801

Total Expenses (Schedule I) 205 429 189 870

Cost of operations before Parliamentary appropriations (170 493) (157 519)

Parliamentary appropriations (Note 11) 168 828 149 742

Net results of operations (1 665) (7 777)

The accompanying notes and schedule form an integral part of the financial statements.



78 I D R C A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008
Retained earnings

Unrestricted
Beginning of year 7 950 12 959
Effect of adopting new accounting standards for financial instruments — (3)
Net results of operations (1 665) (7 777)
Transfers (to) from reserved and restricted (393) 2 771

Balance end of year 5 892 7 950

Reserved
Beginning of year 5 990 5 412
Financial planning reserve increase 763 578

Balance end of year 6 753 5 990

Restricted
Beginning of year 1 070 4 419
Property and equipment expenditures incurred (1 070) (4 419)
Provision for property and equipment expenditures 700 1 070

Balance end of year 700 1 070

Total retained earnings end of year 13 345 15 010

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Beginning of year 8 —
Effect of adopting new accounting standards for financial instruments — (9)
Other comprehensive income 110 17

Balance end of year 118 8

Total equity end of year 13 463 15 018

The accompanying notes and schedule form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008

Net results of operations (1 665) (7 777)

Other comprehensive income
Net unrealized gains from available for sale financial instruments 110 8
Reclassification adjustment for losses included in net results of operations — 9

110 17

Total comprehensive income (1 555) (7 760)

The accompanying notes and schedule form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008

Operating activities
Net results of operations (1 665) (7 777)

Items not affecting cash
Amortization of property and equipment 2 426 2 716
Amortization of deferred revenue — property and equipment (2 426) (2 716)
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 16 72
Employee future benefits 278 95
Deferred revenue — long-term (Note 8) 2 834 1 459
Effect of transitional amount for employee loans — (3)

3 128 1 623
Change in non-cash operating items:

Accounts receivable (5 634) 1 221
Prepaid expenses (55) (3)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2 067) 2 236
Deferred revenue — current (Note 8) 5 341 10 061

(2 415) 13 515

Cash flows (used in) from operating activities (952) 7 361

Financing activities
Parliamentary appropriation for property and equipment 3 107 8 681
Cash flows from financing activities 3 107 8 681

Investing activities
Purchase of investments (210 762) (110 993)
Maturity of investments 228 356 104 213
Acquisition of property and equipment (3 112) (8 786)
(Costs toward) proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment (11) 33
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities 14 471 (15 533)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 16 626 509

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 22 450 21 941

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 39 076 22 450

Composition of cash and cash equivalents
Cash 39 076 3 713
Short-term investments — 18 737

39 076 22 450

The accompanying notes and schedule form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(in thousands of dollars unless otherwise stated)

1. Authority and objective
The International Development Research Centre (the Centre), a corporation without share capital, was established in 1970

by the Parliament of Canada through the International Development Research Centre Act. The Centre is funded primarily

through an annual appropriation received from the Parliament of Canada. In accordance with section 85(1) of the Financial

Administration Act, the Centre is exempt from Divisions I to IV of Part X of the Act, except for sections 131 to 148 of

Division III. The Centre is a registered charity and is exempt under section 149 of the Income Tax Act from the payment of

income tax.

The objective of the Centre is to initiate, encourage, support, and conduct research into the problems of the developing

regions of the world and into the means for applying and adapting scientific, technical, and other knowledge to the

economic and social advancement of those regions.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

The significant accounting policies of the Centre are:

a. Revenue recognition

i) Parliamentary appropriations

Parliamentary appropriations, other than the portions used for the purchase of property and equipment and for spe-

cific projects and programs, are recorded as revenue in the year for which they are appropriated. The portion of the

Parliamentary appropriation used for the purchase of property and equipment is recorded as deferred revenue and

amortized into income on the same basis and over the same period as the related assets. Upon disposition of depre-

ciable property and equipment, all remaining deferred funding related to the specific asset is recognized into income.

Parliamentary appropriations received for specific projects and programs are also deferred and recognized when the

related expenses are incurred.

ii) Donor partnerships

The Centre enters into partnership agreements for research conducted or managed on behalf of other organizations.

Funds received or receivable under donor partnership agreements are recorded as deferred revenues. These deferred

revenues are recognized as revenues in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.

iii) Investment and other income

Investment income is recorded on an accrual basis and includes realized gains and losses on disposal of investments.

All other income is recorded on the accrual basis of accounting.
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b. Grant payments
All contractual grant payments are subject to the provision of funds by Parliament. They are recorded as an expense in the

year they come due under the terms and conditions of the agreements. Refunds on previously disbursed grant payments are

credited against the current year expenses when the project is active or to other income when the project is closed.

c. Property and equipment and amortization
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.

The estimated useful life of each asset class is as follows:

Computer equipment 3 years

Software 3 to 10 years

Office furniture and equipment 5 years

Vehicles 3 to 7 years

Communications systems 5 years

Leasehold improvements Remaining term of lease

d. Financial Instruments
The Centre’s financial instruments consist of cash, cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable,

and accrued liabilities that are incurred in the normal course of business. Financial instruments are initially recognized at

the transaction price, which is the fair value of the consideration given and, subsequent to initial recognition, measured

based on their classification. The following classification decisions were made as of 1 April 2007:

i) Financial Instrument Classification Measurement
Cash Held for trading Fair value
Cash equivalents and investments Available for sale Fair value
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

ii) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term money market instruments with maturities

of 90 days or less at the time of acquisition.

iii) Investments

Investments are comprised of high quality money market instruments with a maturity between 91 days and one year

at the time of acquisition. Investments may be sold in response to changes in the Centre’s liquidity requirements, to

changes in the credit rating of the instruments or to an imbalance in the asset mix relative to benchmarks stipulated

in the Centre’s investment policy. These investments are initially recognized at the transaction price, which is the fair

value of the consideration given. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, except for impairment losses, are

recognized in Other Comprehensive Income until the financial asset is sold or otherwise derecognized. Upon derecog-

nition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is transferred to the Statement of Operations.

Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on the settlement date. Where applicable, transaction costs related to

the acquisition of investments are expensed.
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iv) Embedded derivatives

Embedded derivatives are required to be separated and measured at fair value if certain conditions are met. The

Centre selected 1 April 2003 as the transition date for embedded derivatives, as only contracts or financial instru-

ments entered into or modified after the transition date were examined for embedded derivatives. Management has

reviewed contracts and determined that the Centre does not have embedded derivatives that require separate

accounting treatment.

e. Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange

rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items are translated at rates in effect when the assets were

acquired or obligations incurred. Revenue and expense items are translated at a weekly rate of exchange. Exchange

gains and losses are included in determining net results for the year. The Centre does not hedge against foreign

currency fluctuations.

f. Employee future benefits

i) Pension benefits — head office

All eligible head office-hired employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan administered by the Government

of Canada. The Centre’s contributions reflect the full cost as employer. This amount is currently based on a multiple

of an employee’s required contributions and may change over time depending on the experience of the Plan. The

Centre’s contributions are expensed during the year in which the employee’s services are rendered and represent the

total pension obligation of the Centre. The Centre is not currently required to make contributions with respect to

actuarial deficiencies of the Public Service Pension Plan.

ii) Pension benefits — regional offices

The Centre offers a number of defined contribution plans that provide pension and other benefits to eligible employ-

ees. The Centre’s contributions reflect the full cost as employer. This amount is currently based on a multiple of an

employee’s required contributions to the plans. The Centre’s contributions are expensed during the year in which the

employee’s services are rendered and represent the total obligation of the Centre.

iii) Other benefit plans
Severence benefits

Employees are entitled to severance benefits, as provided for under their conditions of employment. Management

determines the accrued obligation for severance benefits using a method based on assumptions and its best esti-

mates. This method reflects that, generally, employees with more than five years of service are entitled to a severance

benefit calculated on the basis of one week of salary per year of service. The cost of these benefits is accrued as

employees render the services necessary to earn them.
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g. Retained earnings
The Centre’s retained earnings consist of the accumulation of revenues over expenditures from operations and include

unrestricted, restricted, and reserved amounts.

A portion of the 2008–2009 Parliamentary appropriation was internally restricted by management to finance the first

year of a multi-year information management initiative. Variances in program spending can have a significant impact on

the retained earnings balance. One of the objectives of the Centre’s equity policy is to ensure that a sufficient balance is

available to absorb these program expenditure variances. Management earmarks a minimum of 4% and a maximum of

7% of the Parliamentary appropriation as a financial planning reserve. The value of the reserve is established each year

during the budgeting process.

h. Non-monetary transactions
On occasion, the Centre carries out non-monetary exchanges, which are exchanges of non-monetary assets, goods, or

services for other non-monetary assets, goods, or services with little or no monetary consideration involved. Non-mone-

tary transactions are recorded at the fair value of the assets, goods, or services given up, unless the fair value of the

assets, goods, or services received is more reliable.

i. Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-

ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the

financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of income and expenses during the period. Employee severance

benefits, estimated useful lives of property and equipment, the fair value of financial instruments, and contingent liabili-

ties are the most significant items for which estimates are used. Actual results could differ from those estimated.

j. Future accounting changes
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board has announced that all publicly accountable Canadian reporting entities will

adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for years

beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The Centre’s 2011–2012 financial statements must comply with IFRS. The standards

also require that the Centre present complete comparative figures based on IFRS standards in the 2011–2012 financial

statements. The Centre is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of these new standards.
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3. Adoption of new accounting standards

a. Financial instruments — presentation and disclosures
On 1 April 2008, the Centre adopted CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures, and Section

3863 Financial Instruments – Presentation. These sections replace CICA Handbook Section 3861, Financial Instruments –

Disclosures and Presentation, and enhance the disclosures about the significance of financial instruments to the Centre’s

financial position and performance, the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments, and how the Centre

manages those risks.

b. Capital disclosures
On 1 April 2008, the Centre adopted CICA Handbook Section 1535, Capital Disclosures, which establishes guidelines for

the disclosure of information regarding what a corporation regards as capital, any externally imposed capital require-

ments and the consequences of non-compliance with such requirements, and its objectives, policies, and processes for

managing capital.

4. Cash and cash equivalents
2009 2008

Cash 39 076 3 713
Cash equivalents — 18 737

39 076 22 450

The Centre invests in money market instruments such as commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances, and bearer deposit notes

that are rated R-1 (low) or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service. As at 31 March 2009, the Centre had no money

market instruments. The average yield as at 31 March 2008 was 3.71% and the average term to maturity at the time of

purchase was 64 days.

5. Investments
2009 2008

Bonds 20 596 —
Money market instruments 811 38 891

21 407 38 891

The Centre invests in bonds that are rated A or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service and money market instruments

such as commercial paper, bankers acceptances, and bearer deposit notes that are rated R-1 (low) or better by the Dominion

Bond Rating Service. The average yield as at 31 March 2009 is 2.95 % (2008: 4.06%) and the average term to maturity at

the time of purchase is 236 days (2008: 128 days).
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6. Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are incurred in the normal course of business. The fair values of accounts receivable approximate their

carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. Of the total from donor partnerships, 50% is due from the

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and does not present a significant credit risk. (2008: 14% was due from the Canadian

International Development Agency (CIDA)).

2009 2008
Parliamentary appropriation 6 497 5 497
Donor partnerships 5 828 1 552
Other 2 040 1 682

14 365 8 731

7. Property and equipment
2009 2008

Accumulated Net book Net book
Cost amortization value value

Leasehold improvements 11 110 1 849 9 261 8 866
Software 8 572 7 301 1 271 1 082
Computer equipment 3 568 2 917 651 753
Office furniture and equipment 2 119 1 570 549 612
Vehicles 1 026 782 244 175
Communications systems 1 190 401 789 596

27 585 14 820 12 765 12 084

Amortization expense for the year is $2 426 (2008: $2 716).

8. Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue includes the unspent portion of funds received or receivable on donor partnership activities, the unamor-

tized portion of the Parliamentary appropriation used for the purchase of property and equipment, and the unspent portion

of the Parliamentary appropriations received for specific projects and programs (see Note 11).

Details of these balances are as follows:

a. Donor partnership funding for development research programs

2009 2008
Current 31 341 25 762
Long-term 4 764 3 154

36 105 28 916

Of the total deferred donor partnership funding, CIDA accounts for $7 232 (2008: $4 829) of which $6 195 (2008: $4 387)

was received during the year and $1 037 (2008: $442) is receivable at year-end.
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b. Parliamentary appropriations — property and equipment

2009 2008
Balance at beginning of year 12 084 6 119
Parliamentary appropriation for property and equipment 3 107 8 681
Amortization (2 426) (2 716)
Balance at end of year 12 765 12 084

Current 2 105 2 255
Long-term 10 660 9 829

12 765 12 084

c. Parliamentary appropriations — projects and programs

2009 2008
Current 2 510 2 748
Long-term 2 395 1 171

4 905 3 919

d. Total deferred revenues (sum of all of the above)

2009 2008
Current 35 956 30 765
Long-term 17 819 14 154

53 775 44 919

9. Employee future benefits

a. Pension benefits — head office

The Centre and all eligible head office-hired employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan. This pension plan

provides benefits based on years of service and average earnings at retirement. The benefits are fully indexed to the

increase in the Consumer Price Index. The Centre’s and employees’ contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan for

the year were as follows:
2009 2008

Centre contributions 3 971 3 892
Employee contributions 2 151 1 994

b. Pension benefits — regional offices

The Centre and eligible regional employees contribute to various defined contribution pension plans as specified in the

Plan Agreements. The Centre’s contributions to these plans for the year were $426 (2008: $356).
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c. Severance benefits
The Centre provides severance benefits to its employees based on years of service and final salary. This benefit plan is not

pre-funded and thus has no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the accrued benefit obligation. Benefits will be

paid from future appropriations. Information about the plan, measured as at the balance sheet date, is as follows:

2009 2008
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 6 188 5 914
Cost for the year 999 878
Benefits paid during the year (510) (604)
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 6 677 6 188

Current 655 444
Long-term 6 022 5 744

6 677 6 188

The current portion is reported in the balance for accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

10. Donor partnerships
Donor partnership funding for development research programs relates specifically to research conducted or managed by the

Centre on behalf of other organizations. This research is funded by the United Kingdom’s Department for International

Development (DFID), CIDA, several other Government of Canada entities, and other donor agencies. A breakdown of the

revenue and expense recognition for donor partnerships is provided below:

2009 2008
DFID 11 849 9 529
CIDA 7 309 6 792
Other Government of Canada entities 146 1 666
Other donor agencies 10 371 8 104

29 675 26 091

The Centre recovers administrative costs from the management of donor partnership funding. The total recovery for this year

is $2 969 (2008: $2 729) of which $635 (2008: $824) was from CIDA.

11. Parliamentary appropriations
2009 2008

Approved Parliamentary appropriations 170 495 155 937
Portion deferred for projects and programs (4 700) (2 000)

165 795 153 937

Deferral for property and equipment purchased in the current year (Note 8) (3 107) (8 681)
Amortization of deferred Parliamentary appropriation —
projects and programs 3 714 1 770

166 402 147 026
Amortization of deferred Parliamentary appropriation —
property and equipment 2 426 2 716

Parliamentary appropriation recognized in the statement of operations 168 828 149 742
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12. Commitments

a. Program-related
The Centre is committed to making payments up to $212.9 million (2008: $192.8 million) during the next five years sub-

ject to funds being provided by Parliament or donors and subject to compliance by recipients with the terms and condi-

tions of grant agreements. Of this amount, $159.6 million (2008: $162.6 million) will be covered by funding from future

Parliamentary appropriations and the balance of $53.3 million (2008: $30.2 million) by funding from donor partnerships.

b. Operating leases
The Centre has entered into various contractual commitments for leases of office premises in Canada and abroad

and for staff accommodation in various countries. The lease agreements expire at different dates up to 2022. Future

payments related to these contractual commitments as at 31 March 2009 are as follows:

2009–2010 7 055
2010–2011 7 385
2011–2012 7 175
2012–2013 7 522
2013–2014 7 787
2014 to 2022 69 091

Total future payments 106 015

13. Contingencies
Various claims have been asserted or instituted against the Centre. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties and the out-

come of individual matters is not predictable. Based on the advice of legal counsel, management is of the opinion that it is

not possible to determine the amount of the liability, if any, that may result from settlement of these claims.

14. Related party transactions
In addition to the related party transactions disclosed in Notes 6, 8, and 10 to these financial statements, the Centre is

related in terms of common ownership to all Government of Canada-created departments, agencies, and Crown corpora-

tions. The Centre enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of operations, under the same terms and

conditions that apply to unrelated parties. The transactions are recorded at their actual amounts, determined to be as per

market value.

15. Financial instrument risks
The principal risks that the Centre is exposed to as a result of holding financial instruments are credit risk, market risk, and

liquidity risk. Risk management for investing activities is carried out by the Corporate Treasury function. Investments are held

for liquidity purposes, or for longer terms. The Centre has various other financial instruments such as cash and cash equiva-

lents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities which arise directly from operations.
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a. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will default on its obligations to the Centre, thus

resulting in financial losses. The Centre is exposed to credit risk since it has investments and extends credit to its cus-

tomers and donor partners in the normal course of business. The maximum exposure is represented by cash and cash

equivalents, investments, and accounts receivable amounts presented in the Centre’s financial statements. Credit risk

associated with accounts receivable is minimal since most receivables are due from donor partners and Canadian

government entities. The Centre’s investment policy sets out guidelines that define the minimum acceptable counter-

party credit rating pertaining to cash equivalents and investments. The investments in financial institutions, corporations,

and Canadian government entities must have minimum ratings from two external rating agencies that are equivalent to

Dominion Bond Rating Service (DBRS) ratings of R-1 (low) for short-term investments and A for long-term investments.

The investment policy is reviewed and approved as required by the Board, and procedures which establish credit limits

for each counterparty are reviewed by management at least annually. These policies and procedures are designed to

manage and limit the credit risk associated with these financial instruments.

i) Concentrations of credit risk

The Centre’s primary exposure to credit risk is summarized as follows:

DBRS rating Amount

Corporate bond AA 10 314

Provincial bond A 10 282

b. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes

in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

The Centre is exposed to potential losses as a result of movements in interest and foreign exchange rates.

i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the potential adverse impact on the value of financial instruments resulting from exchange

rate movements. The Centre has exposure to foreign exchange risk in part from the operating costs of six regional

offices throughout the world. The Centre manages foreign currency risk by funding regional operations only to meet

short-term requirements, which minimizes foreign currency balances.

The Centre has multi-year donor partnership agreements with non-Canadian donors which are denominated in

currencies other than the Canadian dollar. When progress payments are received from donors, they are translated to

Canadian dollars at the weekly exchange rate (see Note 2e). In turn, the Centre issues multi-year grant agreements

which are denominated in Canadian dollars. The Centre manages its foreign currency risk on these activities by set-

ting aside a portion of the donor partnership agreement funding to absorb exchange gains and losses until such time

that the full impact of the foreign currency risk is known. The magnitude of the foreign currency funding set aside is

gauged against actual fluctuations on a quarterly basis, with additions being made when needed, which occurs

rarely, and releases being made only towards the end of the agreement, when no longer needed.
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ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest

rates. The Centre is exposed to interest rate risk in that changes in market interest rates may cause fluctuations in

the fair value of cash equivalents and investments. To manage this risk, the Centre normally invests in short-term

marketable securities that are not significantly affected by variations in interest rates.

c. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Centre will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.

Liquidity risk can arise from mismatched cash flows related to assets and liabilities. The treasury function within

Corporate Accounting is responsible for the Centre’s liquidity management. This risk is managed by monitoring fore-

casted and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Centre also holds

cash and investments in marketable securities which are readily convertible to cash, to ensure that sufficient liquidity

can be made available to meet forecasted cash requirements. Given the timing of receipts and payments, the Centre’s

exposure to liquidity risk is minimal.

16. Capital management
The Centre is subject to the International Development Research Centre Act which affects how resources are managed by,

among other things, setting broad objectives for the Centre. The Centre defines capital as the balance of retained earnings.

The Centre’s main operating goal is to minimize the accumulation of capital and further its mandate. The primary objective

in managing whatever capital is accumulated is to protect the financial position of the Centre. In support of this objective,

the Centre reserves a portion of retained earnings as a financial planning reserve. The financial planning reserve is intended

to cushion the impact of significant variances in development research program expenditures. Management will also restrict

a portion of retained earnings to fund special operational initiatives planned for a future fiscal year (normally the next year).

The Centre is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.



92 I D R C A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9

Schedule of Expenses
for the year ended 31 March 2009
(in thousands of dollars)

Schedule I
2009 2008

Development Development
Research Research Administrative
Programs Support Services Total

Grants 116 993 — — 116 993 105 287

Salaries and benefits 6 985 27 137 15 513 49 635 46 849

Travel 3 083 4 967 930 8 980 8 564

Professional services 6 432 1 088 1 441 8 961 9 329

Accommodations 387 3 066 3 747 7 200 6 409

Communication 2 407 589 742 3 738 3 684

Meetings and conferences 1 980 245 204 2 429 2 082

Amortization — 73 2 353 2 426 2 716

Furniture, equipment, and maintenance 242 152 1 333 1 727 1 503

Office supplies and expenses 42 52 964 1 058 977

Training 25 186 377 588 581

Books and periodicals 145 251 42 438 437

Insurance — — 212 212 224

Miscellaneous 327 278 439 1 044 1 228

Total expenses on Statement
of Operations 139 048 38 084 28 297 205 429 189 870
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On the Internet
www.idrc.ca
http://idl-bnc.idrc.ca — to access IDRC’s Digital Library
reference@idrc.ca — to reach the library reference desk
info@idrc.ca — to get general information
www.idrc.ca/subscribe — to subscribe to IDRC’s e-Bulletin

Head Office
International Development Research Centre
PO Box 8500, Ottawa, ON, Canada K1G 3H9

Street address:
150 Kent Street, Ottawa, ON
Canada
Phone: (+1) 613-236-6163
Fax: (+1) 613-238-7230
Email: info@idrc.ca
Web: www.idrc.ca

Latin America and the Caribbean
IDRC Regional Office for Latin America
and the Caribbean
Avenida Brasil 2655, 11300 Montevideo, Uruguay
Phone: (+598-2) 709-0042
Fax: (+598-2) 708-6776
Email: lacroinf@idrc.org.uy
Web: www.idrc.ca/lacro

Asia
IDRC Regional Office for South Asia and China
208 Jor Bagh, New Delhi 110003, India
Phone: (+91-11) 2461-9411
Fax: (+91-11) 2462-2707
Email: saro@idrc.org.in
Web: www.idrc.ca/saro

IDRC Regional Office for Southeast and East Asia
22 Cross Street #02-55
South Bridge Court
Singapore 048421
Phone: (+65) 6438-7877
Fax: (+65) 6438-4844
Email: asro@idrc.org.sg
Web: www.idrc.ca/asro

Africa
IDRC Regional Office for Eastern and Southern Africa
PO Box 62084, 00200 Nairobi, Kenya

Street address:
Liaison House, 2nd floor, State House Avenue, Nairobi, Kenya
(address all mail to the IDRC Regional Director)
Phone: (+254-20) 2713-160/61
Fax: (+254-20) 2711-063
Email: vngugi@idrc.or.ke
Web: www.idrc.ca/esaro

IDRC Regional Office for the Middle East
and North Africa
PO Box 14 Orman, Giza, Cairo, Egypt

Street address:
8 Ahmed Niseem Street, 8th floor
Giza, Cairo, Egypt
Phone: (+202) 336-7051/52/53/54/57
Fax: (+202) 336-7056
Email: info@idrc.org.eg
Web:: www.idrc.ca/cairo

IDRC Regional Office for West and Central Africa
BP 11007, Peytavin, Dakar, Senegal

Street address:
Rue de Saint-Louis angle avenue Cheikh Anta Diop, Point E
Dakar, Senegal
Phone: (+221) 33 864-0000
Fax: (+221) 33 825-3255
Email: jgerard@idrc.org.sn
Web: www.idrc.ca/waro

How to reach us

idrc.ca
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